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Chairman’s Statement
EE®RE

To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of In Construction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
you with the annual report for the year ended 31 March
2021 (the “Financial Year 2020/21").

Founded in 1996, our Company is an experienced general
and foundation contractor serving the Hong Kong building
and construction industries by offering quality and flexible
solutions to our customers. Using our ability to solve different
and complex issues on construction projects, we continue
to build trust and credibility with our existing and new
customers. We could not have done it without the support
of our business partners who have been working with us
over the years. The implementation of our self-developed,
successful formula in project management, together with our
strong bond with our customers and partners, has enabled us
to withstand the up and down in market conditions that we
experienced since the beginning.

Though we are faced with ever increasing competition
among contractors in tendering for new projects, we are
mindful to maintain our profit margin to safeguard our
shareholders’ interests. Nevertheless, we remain confident
and are well-positioned in the market as our operation
model of subcontracting works allows us flexibility to remain
resilient to adverse impact. In this financial year, facing strong
competitions, we are still able to be awarded 4 new contracts
with an aggregate contract sum of HK$468.2 million, as
compared to 5 new contracts with an aggregate contract sum
of HK$392.2 million in last financial year.

Looking ahead, it is expected that 2021 will be filled with
more uncertainties as a result of the continuing pandemic.
The recovery of the Hong Kong's economy depends not only
on the success of vaccines, but also the co-operation of the
general public to minimise the effect of pandemic in our
workplaces as well as in our daily social life.

We have followed the Site Hygiene Plan as advised by the
Department of Health to minimise the risk of contracting
and spreading infections disease cases in workplaces. Due to
the effective mitigation efforts of the Site Hygiene Plan, the
pandemic has limited impact on our financial results.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)
FERE (E)

In facing the above, nevertheless we will continue to adhere — HESAEIHT A ERIRE » RAIGHERFET
to our strategy of focusing on ‘design and build’ projects. W [T ML HEH K « BEAEET
With our long established standing in the construction — REE{TEMKABE AL ELERN
industry, our experienced management team, the listing EIEER - tHFEREBEVBEHRL &
platform and healthy financial position, our management @58 H#EE AR RAEP ERE
team will use their best endeavor to build value over the f{& e

medium to long term for our shareholders.

On the behalf of our board, | would like to express our sincere ~ AARKZESHE N ROBRHEREH L
gratitude to our management team and all our staff for 28 THFETEEERL - A RERGHRK
their hard work and dedication, as well as our shareholders, ¥ - #EBEH R EMBEA TR TET
business associates and other professional parties for their — BFfEAIS T #F o

support at this uncertain time.

Lau Pak Man 2lfax
Chairman *E
Hong Kong, 25 June 2021 HEE  ZEZ—FAZ+AHAB
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Highlights
HE

Hksm378.8 5EExz  HKsmDO.6 EEET

Down HK$15.1m from FY19/20 Up HK$30.4m from FY19/20
BN/ "—THBEERL 151 EEET B-T—h/ "EHBREEEM0IEEET

REVENUE Uk GROSS PROFIT E£F|
HKcents3.5 = (1] HK$'m28.7 BEBEBIT
HKO0.5 cents in FY19/20 Up HK$24.9m from FY19/20
—E-h CEMREEB5E BoF—h/ —ERREEEMN4 9B EET
EARNINGS PER SHARE &z 2 X NET PROFIT £t X

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY 2020/2021 GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY 2019/2020
—ECE T -BREEERNER ZE-NCERREEERNR

14.9% r 6.6%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged as a contractor in the
foundation industry in Hong Kong, undertaking foundation
works as well as associated works including demolition works,
site formation works, ground investigation field works and
general building works for local customers.

Business Review

The Group has been engaged to undertake foundation and
associated works in the private sector construction projects in
Hong Kong, with an emphasis on design and build projects
and undertaking the role as a main contractor.

The Group places emphasis on design and build projects
because of the flexibility and capability in coming up with
foundation design plan that suits its customers’ requirements
and the site conditions. During the Financial Year 2020/21,
the Group has successfully carried out construction works
with alternative design which not only complies with the
technical requirements but also be more cost efficient for
“design and build” contracts. The cost efficient proposals
allow the Group to offer its customers a more competitive
pricing and at the same time secure its profit margin for the
year.

During the Financial Year 2020/21, four new projects with an
aggregate contract value of HK$468.2 million were awarded
to the Group. Seven existing projects were completed during
the year. As at 31 March 2021, three projects with the
outstanding contract sum of HK$260.7 million were all in
progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEENRR D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Business Review (continued)

%K B R RE ()

EBEE (E)

Status as at
31 March 2021

Year of award/project Type of contract R=T=—F
EREE 1EE ERHER ZA=+—BHHRR
Year 2018-2019

—E-NEZF-NFE

Kok Cheung Street, Tai Kok Tsui Design and build Completed
RAEAEE et K& BT

Tai Po Kau Design and build Completed
RiEE Rt M & BExEL
Caine Road Design and build Completed

B iE Rt Mz BxL

Year 2019-2020

CENREZFE-FFE
Hok Yuen Street
ESE A

Tung Street
R

Kwun Chui Road
B

Liberty Avenue
BHE

Hang On Street
ey

Year 2020-2021
—ECEERCE—FF
Wo Shang Wai

A E

Des Voeux Road Central
rEEET

Wellington Road Street
ok 28 VB 17

Fuk Wang Street
BmAE

Design and build
Rt Rk
Design and build
mat R
Build only
EE

Design and build
Rt Rk
Design and build
Rt R

Monitoring and
maintenance
BRI R IRE
Design and build
Rt M &
Build only
EF=Se

Design and build
#at R

Work in progress
Pe=

Completed
23T
Completed
[RECEE
Completed
[RECNE
Completed
RSN

Work in progress

R

Not yet commenced
EENGES

Work in progress
R

Not yet commenced
EENGEES
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE WKk D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Financial Review

During the Financial Year 2020/21, there were 19 projects
contributing revenue and gross profit of approximately
HK$378.8 million and HK$56.6 million, respectively, whereas
revenue and gross profit for the Financial Year 2019/20 of
HK$393.9 million and HK$26.2 million, respectively were
contributed by 18 projects. Top five projects contributed
revenue amounted to HK$273.2 million (2020: HK$341.3
million), in which the top project contributed 32.2% of the
total revenue.

The Group recorded a decrease in contract revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2021 by approximately HK$15.1 million
as compared with that of the corresponding year in 2020.
Gross profit increased by approximately HK$30.4 million,
to approximately HK$56.6 million for the current year from
approximately HK$26.2 million for the corresponding year in
2020. Gross profit margin increased to 14.9% for the current
year from 6.6% for the corresponding year in 2020. Such
increase was primarily attributable to recovery of extension
of time and the amount of certified variation orders for
completed projects.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by
approximately HK$5.1 million to approximately HK$27.7
million, compared with approximately HK$22.6 million of the
Financial Year 2019/20, which was mainly due to increase of
write-off of trade and other receivables by HK$5.9 million.

As a result, profit before taxation for the Financial Year
2020/21 increased by HK$29.4 million or 683.7% to HK$33.7
million, from the last financial year of HK$4.3 million.

EB R ERE ()

B # e
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENwmE D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Highly regulated industry

The foundation industry is a highly regulated industry and
the Group is required to maintain certain registrations under
the laws of Hong Kong. In order to renew and maintain
these registrations, the Group is required to comply with
certain criteria set by the relevant governmental departments
and authorities such as the Buildings Department and the
Development Bureau. These include the maintenance of
certain financial criteria such as working capital level, the
adequacy of our management structure and the appropriate
experience and qualification of our personnel.

Any suspension of or a failure to maintain or renew the
Group's registrations could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

Uncertainty in construction progress

Due to the nature of foundation works, the foundation
and structure of any buildings adjacent to the Group's
construction sites may be affected or damaged during the
construction process.

The Group may incur additional cost and time in carrying
out remedial works and this may cause material delay in
completing a project. The Group may face claims from
customers for losses and for liquidated and ascertained
damages due to delay. Further, the Group may also be
exposed to claims and disputes from third parties arising from
damage caused to the adjacent buildings. Such claims, legal
and other proceedings may affect the Group’s reputation
and also increase the costs of the projects undertaken by
the Group, resulting in adverse impact on the financial
performance of the Group.

%K B R RE ()

FERRBRTEERE

BERETF
WETENERERENTE  MAKE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE WKk D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Failure to bid new contract

The Group’s business relies on successful tenders that
determine the award of contracts for foundation works and/
or associated works. Given the non-recurring nature of these
contract awards and the fact that the Group does not have
long-term commitment with its customers, the number of
contracts awarded to the Group may vary from year to year.

Upon the completion of its contracts on hand, the Group's
financial performance may be adversely affected if the Group
is unable to secure new tenders or obtain new contract
awards with comparable contract sums or at all.

Uncertain external factors

Despite the fact that the construction industry is one of the
traditional core industries in Hong Kong and it is currently
benefitting from strong housing needs and large government
infrastructure projects, the construction industry may suffer
adverse impact in the event of any change in government
policies, sudden economic setback, social unrest and
unanticipated natural disasters and outbreak of serious
disease. Since our customers are mostly private sector
property developers, the future growth and profitability of
the foundation industry largely depend on the continued
prosperity of the property market and the construction
industry in Hong Kong.

Although the Group has a number of contracts on hand,
these external factors may affect the number of new
construction projects available in the private sector in medium
to long term.

EB R ERE ()
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENwmE D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Relationships with Customers, Working

Partners and Employees

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its
customers and working partners (including sub-contractors,
suppliers and consultants), some of which have established
more than 10 years of working relationship with the Group.
The close working relationship can also be demonstrated by
the increasing number of customer portfolios and continuous
cooperation with working partners which may be engaged
by the Group in one or more of its projects at the same
time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is
closely interlinked with all the other elements of its model.
Successful long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust
that the Group is able to provide quality service and excellent
customer experience. To achieve this, the Group needs
experienced people with the right skills and capabilities as
well as continuous supports from its working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship
with its employees. The Group has a low staff turnover rate
of 9% in the project management team in 2021 (2020: 4%)
and many of the Group’s skilled employees have worked
with the Group for a number of years. The Group's key
management team comprises three executive Directors and
the Chief Financial Officer, the biography of each is set out
under the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report. The Group’s experienced
management team, coupled with a stable pool of skilled
labour, is one of its key drives in delivering high quality work
to customers in order to attain high customers’ satisfaction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE WKk D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)
Environmental Policies

The Group emphasises on environmental protection
when undertaking its projects. The Group was awarded
the ISO 14001:2015 (environment management system
accreditation). The current ISO 14001:2015 certificate is valid
from 8 August 2020 to 3 September 2023. When preparing
the tender documents, the Group will take into consideration
the environmental protection requirements of potential
customers as well as the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environmental protection. The Group’s safety
and environmental officers are responsible for ensuring
that the Group satisfies the applicable laws and regulations
requirements and identifying and reporting on environmental
issues to our project management team.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulation

The Group mainly undertakes foundation works and
associated works for construction projects in the private
sector in Hong Kong and is thus subject to the rules and
regulations implemented by the Buildings Department which
regulates contractors in the private sector. The Directors
confirmed that during the Financial Year 2020/2021 and
up to the date of this report, the Group had obtained all
the registrations and certifications required for its business
and operations in Hong Kong, and had complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all material
respects.

EB R ERE ()
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEEENRR D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

/)u,@J %‘Eji% ,ﬁ&§$ 1‘%

As at 31 March

repayment of HK$10 million bank loan during the year ended

R=A=+—8
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-THF
Current ratio B R 4.7 3.0
Gearing ratio’ BEAARE 10.1% 17.2%
Note: Bt 5
1. Gearing ratio is calculated based on debts including lease liabilities, 1. BEARBRLEREE(DEHEARE RTE
bank loan and shareholder’s loan divided by the total equity as at the AR ER) B ASRE B AR RS AT E -
reporting dates.
Gearing ratio decreased by 7.1% as at 31 March 2021 as R-ZE-—F=A=+—H  EE&EL
compared to that as at 31 March 2020 was mainly due to _?_E E-EF=—A=1t—"BEL7.1%,
FERR-_ZE-_—F=A=+—HFRNE
=

31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances
of HK$56.0 million (2020: HK$46.1 million), of which HK$41.8
million (2020: HK$35.6 million) were restricted bank balances.
Such restricted bank balances were held for the purpose of the
issuance of surety bonds for our projects and requirement of our
general banking facilities. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
no bank overdrafts (2020: Nil).

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
HK$277.4 million, with HK$28.1 million debts as at 31 March
2021.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management.
Apart from certain debts including lease liabilities and
shareholder’s loan, the Group did not have any material
outstanding debts as at 31 March 2021. Payment to settle
trade payable represented the significant part of the cash
outflow of the Group. Taking into account the light debt
leverage, the Group is able to generate cash and meet
upcoming cash requirements. In any case, the Group may
utilise its banking facilities of HK$170.0 million, of which the
unutilised and unrestricted banking facilities amounted to
approximately HK$129.4 million.

BIRTTEFIOEEBTT -

RIB-—F=R=+—H AEEHEH
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EMPLOYEES

The Group had 41 full-time employees as at 31 March 2021
(2020: 50). The Group offers a competitive remuneration
package that is based on the overall market rates and employee
performance, as well as the performance of the Group. The
remuneration package comprised of salary, a performance-based
bonus, and other benefits including training and mandatory
provident funds.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, the
Group had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2021.

CHARGE OVER ASSETS

Save as disclosed in notes 13, 14 and 17(b) to the financial
statements, as at 31 March 2021, the Group had no other
significant assets under pledge (2020: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There were no significant investments held, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the Financial Year 2020/21. There is no
other plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
March 2021.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds (“Net Proceeds”) from the listing of
the shares of the Company (the “Listing”) will be utilised
subsequent to the Listing in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” of the prospectus of the Company
dated 31 March 2015, the announcements of the Company
dated 7 August 2015, 28 March 2018 and the supplemental
announcement dated 21 August 2020. The below table sets
out the proposed applications of the Net Proceeds and actual
usage up to 31 March 2021 and the expected timeline of
application of utilised Net Proceeds:
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The original expected timeline of unutilised Net Proceeds
in respect of the financing for the issue of surety bonds for
future projects was 31 March 2020. The delay in the use of
Net Proceeds arose mainly:

(i)  Some projects do not require the issue of surety bonds;

(i)  Projects tendered with a relatively low contract sum
require surety bonds with smaller amount.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Taking into account the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region’s policy in increasing land
supply and commitment to infrastructure investments, the
Group expects a rebound in the foundation industry in the
long run. Despite the vigorous competition in the Hong Kong
construction industry, the Board is confident with the Group's
future development in its net profit and scale of operations
due to its long established reputation, the listing platform
and healthy financial position. To maintain its competitive
edge, the Group continues to adhere to its business strategy,
by expanding our capacity to capture more business
opportunities, reinforcing its capability in foundation design
and project management skills, and offering qualitative and
flexible solution to its customers.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic affect the whole
world and all business sectors. Fortunately, the impact on the
foundation industry in Hong Kong is relatively low. However,
the Group will continue to assess the development of the
COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on both the operational
and financial aspects. The Group will take every precautionary
measures to minimise the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
to the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Pak Man (2l18 ), aged 66, is our Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, executive Director and General Manager of
the Group. Mr. Lau, together with Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong,
are the founders of the Group. Mr. Lau is responsible for
overall strategic development, project management and
client management of the Group. Mr. Lau has also been a
director of In Construction Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, since 20 December 1996. Mr. Lau
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of Leeds in July 1979. Mr. Lau has nearly
30 years of extensive experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong since 1991. Prior to founding In Construction
Limited in December 1996, Mr. Lau was the project
manager and contract manager of Fong On Construction
& Engineering Co Ltd. between January 1991 till December
1994 and January 1995 till December 1996, respectively,
who was mainly responsible for H-piling foundations,
supply and installations projects as well as a construction
and redevelopment project. Mr. Lau has been a member
of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since July 1992,
a chartered engineer of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
London, England since November 1984, a member of the
Institution of Civil Engineers since December 1983, a member
of the Institute of Highways and Transportation, London,
England since March 1983 and is a registered professional
engineer (civil) of Engineers Registration Board. Mr. Lau is the
spouse of Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit.

Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong (#% 8), aged 66, is our
executive Director and the Director — Construction of the
Group. Mr. Cheng, together with Mr. Lau Pak Man, are the
founders of the Group and is responsible for overseeing
the tender process including foundation design and project
budget, as well as quality control of our projects. Mr. Cheng
has been a director of In Construction Limited since 20
December 1996. Mr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor of Science
degree in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong
in October 1977. In the course of his career, Mr. Cheng
has accumulated more than 20 years of comprehensive
experience in the construction industry. Between May 1989
and August 1992, Mr. Cheng worked in China Overseas
Foundation Engineering Limited as a director and deputy
general manager.
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Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit (B#&1\), aged 49, is our executive
Director and the Director — Operations of the Group.
Ms. Kwan is responsible for project management and
coordination, as well as daily operations of the Group.
Ms. Kwan has been a director of In Construction Limited since
1 December 2014. Ms. Kwan obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Management from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1994.
Ms. Kwan has accumulated over 20 years of experience in
the construction industry. She joined In Construction Limited
as an assistant manager in April 1997. Prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Kwan worked in Sam Woo Engineering
Equipment Limited from February 1995 to April 1997, as an
assistant manager. Ms. Kwan is the spouse of Mr. Lau Pak
Man.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Chi Kin (R#E), aged 67, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed by the Company on
26 March 2015. Mr. Leung obtained a high diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November
1976. In the course of his career, Mr. Leung has accumulated
over 40 years of working experience in auditing, accounting,
taxation and financial management. Mr. Leung is currently
a practicing Certified Public Accountant and managing
director of Chang Leung Hui & Li C.P.A. Limited. He is also
a Certified Tax Adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Between
June 1976 and November 1980, Mr. Leung worked in Lowe
Bingham & Matthews Price Waterhouse & Co., and then
started his own accounting practice in January 1981 and has
been in public practice up to now.
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Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (¥ & ##), aged 73, is an
independent non-executive Director appointed by the
Company on 26 March 2015. Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor of
Science degree in November 1969, and after that he obtained
a degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the University of
Hong Kong in November 1972. Mr. Lam has over 45 years of
experience in engineering. Mr. Lam has been the managing
director and founder of LR Construction Technologies Limited
since August 2012, the managing director and co-founder of
LR Construction and Consultancy Limited since April 2012,
the managing director and co-founder of LR loT Limited since
June 2009. From November 1996 to August 2004, Mr. Lam
was a principal lecturer of the Vocational Training Council.
From 1976 to 1987, Mr. Lam was an appointed lecturer in
the Department of Civil and Structural Engineering of the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers since November 1975
and is also a registered professional engineer of Engineers
Registration Board. Mr. Lam is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(Stock Exchange stock code: 1172).

Mr. Lam has also been appointed Head of Department of Civil
Engineering of Chu Hai College of Higher Education since
March 2020.

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng)
(E F#)), aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed by the Company on 26 March 2015. Mr. Yau is
qualified as a Barrister-at-law in Hong Kong in March 2011.
Mr. Yau obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Electronic
and Electrical Engineering from Loughborough University of
Technology, England in July 1987. He subsequently obtained
a Juris Doctor in Laws and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
from City University of Hong Kong in November 2008
and July 2010, respectively. Mr. Yau has over 20 years of
experience in electric power engineering. Mr. Yau worked
in CLP Power Hong Kong Limited between January 1991
and April 2010, during which Mr. Yau undertook various
positions, with his last position being a senior project
engineer at CLP Engineering Limited, a subsidiary of CLP
Power Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Yau has been a member of the Institution of Engineering
and Technology, England (formerly known as the Institution
of Electrical Engineers, England) and a chartered electrical
engineer of the Engineering Council, England since 2000.
He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers since 2001 and a member of the Chartered
Institution of Building Services Engineers, England since 2004.
Mr. Yau has also been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Arbitrators since 2011.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY

SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Sin Yi Reginia (Ef5f&), aged 55, has joined
us as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group since 1 March
2019, and was appointed as our company secretary on 8
March 2019. Ms. Wong is responsible for the accounting and
financial functions, internal control as well as the company
secretary affairs of the Group. Ms. Wong is an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. She holds a master degree in Business
Administration from the University of South Australia. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience
as the finance manager of several listed companies in Hong
Kong and has extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management.
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The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in foundation works
as well as associated works including demolition works,
site formation works, ground investigation field works and
general building works. The activities and particulars of the
Company's subsidiaries are shown under note 12 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 57 of
this report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
Financial Year 2020/21.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Friday, 3 September 2021, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 31 August 2021
to Friday, 3 September 2021, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. Shareholders of the Company are reminded to
ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Branch Share Registrar (Branch Share Registrar)
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 30 August 2021.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY?’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, is set out on page 128.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Financial Year 2020/21 in
the share capital are set out in note 20(c) to the financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Financial
Year 2020/21.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$127,965,000.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in
note 11 to the financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”), or the law of
Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated.

DIRECTORS
(a) Directors of the Company

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report, are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Pak Man (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Chi Kin

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng)

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation at every annual general meeting of the
Company. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. Mr. Lau Pak Man and Mr. Leung Chi Kin retire
from office by rotation at the 2021 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the said
meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

(b) Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
During the year and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Lau Pak Man, Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit are also directors in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company and each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company. The appointment of each of the Directors
is for a period of three years and shall continue thereafter
until being terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company against liabilities
(to the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) incurred by him
as such Director in the execution of his duties or otherwise
in relation thereto, provided that such indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any such director. The Company has
taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs associated
with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or during the
financial year ended 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

Save for Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong’s interest in Longo Piling
Company, details of which were set out in the section
headed “Relationships with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders of the Company nor their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group in the Financial Year 2020/21.

Mr. Lau Pak Man, Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit, In Play Limited and
Kinetic Kingdom Limited, being the controlling shareholders
of the Company declared that they have complied with the
undertakings given under the Deed of Non-competition as
disclosed in the Prospectus. Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong, Longo
Piling Company and Wealth Celebration Limited declared
that they have complied with the undertakings given under
the Longo Deed of Non-competition as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors were delegated
with the authority to review, on an annual basis, the
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition and the Longo
Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive
Directors were not aware of any non-compliance of both
Deeds of Non-competition since the respective dates of the
deeds and up to the date of this report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” of this report.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

EEREBITHRAEBNESER

RZB-—F=A=+—0 BFEEARQ
RIEBITHABRAR A M E AR A E
(EEAFEHFLRBEEG ([EHRBEK
1) B fn ~ MBERDSEHTESF(Q)RE
BHE MG IENIEXVEET RN E/BEME
KRR MR AR AR (BIERIE
FBHENEEEANZEEXEERE 1ER
RAERGNEZRIAR)  Rb)IRIEEH
FEIEIEDIEIS2EBE LR ZIERER
BEWELMANER AR  RORIEL
TR B S+ FTEl LT 81T AE BT
HXSHIZAEST B E AR A LI AT
RIS BORA T ¢

Long positions in the shares: BRHHNIFE
Approximate
percentage
of the
issued share
capital of
the Company
Capacity/ Number of A A FE
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares B EITRAN
EEHR Bip REEHtE RBEE BABFDE
Mr. Lau Pak Man Benechial owner 7,520,000 0.91%
2FxkE EmEA A
Interest in a controlled corporation et 270,000,000 32.53%
RS R R 2 (0
Interest of spouse Mote2) 60,000,000 7.23%
Fic (25 7 2 (1552
Total 337,520,000 40.67%
=X
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong Beneficial owner 5,900,000 0.71%
BREEE A EmEA A
Interest in a controlled corporation "3 270,000,000 32.53%
P2t NS F=ok =i
Total 275,900,000 33.24%
&&F
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit Interest in a controlled corporation ®ot¢ % 60,000,000 7.23%
B82 /0 + A SZHE I A B B 2 (=)
Interest of spouse Metes) 277,520,000 33.44%
TR B A2 25 (W)
Total 337,520,000 40.67%
BF
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman Beneficial owner 2,970,000 0.36%
(also known as lao Chi Meng) Ez5iEHB A
EFEEE
Total 2,970,000 0.36%

At
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Notes:

1. In Play Limited is 100.0% owned by Mr. Lau Pak Man. Mr. Lau Pak Man
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by In Play Limited
under the SFO.

2. Mr. Lau Pak Man is the spouse of Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Lau Pak Man is deemed to be interested in the same number of

shares in which Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is deemed to be interested.

3. Wealth Celebration Limited is 100.0% owned by Mr. Cheng Wing
Cheong. Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong is therefore deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Wealth Celebration Limited under the SFO.

4. Kinetic Kingdom Limited is 100.0% owned by Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit.
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Kinetic Kingdom Limited under the SFO.

5 Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is the spouse of Mr. Lau Pak Man. By virtue of
the SFO, Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is deemed to be interested in the same
number of shares in which Mr. Lau Pak Man is deemed to be interested.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 16 April 2015. The register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at 31
March 2021, the following shareholders, other than those
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interest in Securities”, had notified the Company
of its interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:

FEREIBTRALNBSMES
()
BfaE

1. In Play LimitedtB 21{AX 2 &R - 1R
FHREEES - 2HASE AR R BRI
Play LimitedFT 5 A A& 19 B 1 % o

2. SR ERMRL L L 2B - REFHF R
HEGED - BEXEERERRBRLL LR
BREAESNARSE KOS ES -

3. Wealth Celebration LimitedfR ¥4 2 £ 2 &
WA o RIBES REIE GG - S K ER I
18 A Wealth Celebration LimitedF7T#% A %
DHRGER R -

4. Kinetic Kingdom Limitedf B3 0 Zx + 2 @
B IREFHFRAER - RO LT E R
R A K Kinetic Kingdom Limited Fr A 2 f& {7
HAERER -

5. BRLETRBAXEEZRE - REEHFK
HEED - BROKETEERNEAXEER
BREAHSNARZE RS Es -

FTERRNFEZES
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INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the shares: BROBIEFR
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital of
the Company
Name of Number of HERLFE
substantial shareholder Capacity shares BITRAH
FTERRER 5% RoOEE BRBET T
In Play Limited Beneficial owner 270,000,000 32.53%
EHEEA
Wealth Celebration Limited Beneficial owner 270,000,000 32.53%
EHEAA
Kinetic Kingdom Limited Beneficial owner 60,000,000 7.23%
EmEAA
MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FEMHEFREFR

The percentage of purchases and sales for the financial year REZ=ZF-—F=A=+—HILHWEKF
ended 31 March 2021 attributable to the Group's major & @ AR&EE F EMHEERE KT P EGERE K

suppliers and customers are as follows: HEBDLAT

Purchases g

— the largest supplier 14.5%  —HAMER 14.5%
— five largest suppliers combined 555% —RAAHEEAER 55.5%
Sales HE

— the largest customer 322% —EBABFR 32.2%
— five largest customers combined 76.2% —HAARFAG 76.2%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder E%E - HEZBMEASEMKE (BES
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than  FTRA - FE AR B D BITRMNDEES%
5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had an LA b)) 8RR EX Tt E 2 HEF KT
interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above. RHEE R o
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DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests in securities” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of material related party transactions
undertaken in the usual course of business of the Group
are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. However,
these transactions were either exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, or did
not fall under the definition of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to
the best belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to
the date of this report.

EERBEROVES 2EF
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Financial Year
2020/2021 is included in the Management Discussion and
Analysis in this report on pages 7 to 17 and forms part of this
Directors’ Report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other
pension schemes during the Financial Year 2020/21.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS UNDER

RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company as guarantor, and In
Construction Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) as borrower, entered into facility agreements
relating to a HK$80 million general banking and term loan
facilities (“Facility 1”) and a HK$25 million hire purchase loan
(“Facility 2") with licensed banks in Hong Kong as lenders.
The maturity date of the facilities is three years and five years
respectively from the date of drawdown.

According to the Facility 1 and Facility 2, the Company, as
guarantor, has undertaken to the lenders that Mr. Lau Pak
Man, Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
will maintain an aggregate beneficial shareholding of not less
than 50% of the entire issued share capital of the Company;
Facility 1 also requires any of Mr. Lau Pak Man, Mr. Cheng
Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit will remain as the
chairman of the Company.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event
of default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the
facilities and demand repayment of any outstanding amounts
under the facility agreements together with interest accrued
thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company
which are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint KPMG as the auditor of the Company.
By order of the Board

Lau Pak Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate
transparency and accountability. The Company is committed
in achieving a high standard of corporate governance and
leading the Group to attain better results and improve
its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

Since Listing, the Board is of the opinion that the Company
had adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the
deviation from provision A.2.1 of the Code.

According to provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lau Pak
Man is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, responsible
for overall strategic development, project management and
client management of the Group. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Lau Pak Man has the benefit of ensuring
consistent and continuous planning and execution of the
Company’s strategies. The Board considers that the balance
of power and authority, accountability and independent
decision-making under the present arrangement will not be
impaired in light of the diverse background and experience
of the independent non-executive Directors, and the
composition of the Board which comprises equal number of
independent non-executive Directors and executive Directors
also provides added independence to the Board. Further,
the Audit Committee composed exclusively of independent
non-executive Directors has free and direct access to the
Company’s external auditors and independent professional
advisers when it considers necessary.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board consists of six Directors including Mr. Lau
Pak Man (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
as the executive Directors and Mr. Leung Chi Kin,
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis and Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman
(also known as lao Chi Meng) as the independent
non-executive Directors. Their names and biographical
details are set in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” in this report. The
overall management of the Company’s operation was
vested in the Board.

Save that Mr. Lau Pak Man and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
are spouses, there are no financial, business, family or
other material relationships among members of the
Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has
at all times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and

(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors
represent half of the Board, the proportion of which
is higher than what is required by Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive
directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one-
third of the board. The Board believes there is sufficient
independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interest of shareholders of the Company.

Directors’ Responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal
control and risk management systems, and monitor
the performance of the senior executives. The Directors
have to make decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior
management officers of the Company was maintained
by the Company with coverage for any legal liabilities
which may arise in the course of performing their
duties.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors
along with other senior executives, is delegated with
responsibilities for implementing the strategy and
direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet
regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operational decisions. The
Board also gives clear directions as to their powers
of management including circumstances where the
management should report back, and will review the
delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Group.

Compliance with the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct of dealings in securities of the
Company by Directors (the “Model Code”). Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them
confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the
Financial Year 2020/21.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in the Board by virtue of their
independent judgement and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. They bring an
impartial view on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control.

All independent non-executive Directors possess
extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their
professional advice to the Board.

The Board also considers that the independent non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice
on the Company’s business strategies, results and
management so as to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years commencing from 26 March
2015. All of their appointments are renewable for
a period of three years and the latest appointments
commenced from 16 April 2021. None of the
independent non-executive Directors held any other
offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries. All
independent non-executive Directors have confirmed
their independence to the Company in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract or a letter of appointment with the Company
for a specific term. Such term is subject to his/her re-
election by the Company at an annual general meeting
(“AGM") upon retirement. Article 112 of the Articles
provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the members of
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each
AGM of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Lau Pak
Man and Mr. Leung Chi Kin shall retire from office by
rotation at the next AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the said meeting.

The members of the Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any
time before the expiration of his/her period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or
in any agreement between the Company and such
Director and may by ordinary resolution elect another
person in his/her stead.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the
overall strategy as well as the operation and financial
performance of the Group. Directors may participate
either in person or through electronic means of
communications.

The Board had convened five regular meetings during
the year. The attendance of the respective Directors to
the Board meetings and the AGM are set out below:

(A EFE(E)

EExEeE
ExgEenms RilEAEE
MEBRIEAREERWHRSR -
ExTRBHEINEFRATR
SDHEEH -

EEgRNAFECERARESRE
FHoREFHFEFEZEAMERR
BEREHLHEHINMT

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BITEEREY

Regular

Board meetings AGM

THESZE8R BRREFAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lau Pak Man 2AX Ak 5/5 1”1

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FERITEAEH)

Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong MEELE 5/5 11
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit BMRLL LT 5/5 171
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Leung Chi Kin PR E 5/5 Il
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis WEE L AE 5/5 11
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EF8RE 5/5 11

(also known as lao Chi Meng)

All Directors received training in the form of seminar
and provision of training materials to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her duties and responsibilities as
a director under applicable rules and requirements. All
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

EREFUFAENFAERE
W LRHEIFIIM - FEREFT D IR
REARBRBRANRETSRES
MBENEE - ARAHBEEE
E2HEBEEXRR  UERME
IR S5 B AR B RE ©
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board Meetings (continued)

The Company Secretary updates Directors on the latest
developments and changes to the Listing Rules and the
applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. Directors are
continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors are required to submit to the Company
annually details of training sessions undertaken by
them in each financial year for the Company to
maintain a training record for its Directors. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the
training received by each of the Directors during the
year ended 31 March 2021 is summarised as follows:

(A EFEERE
EEO9E (M)
REARER DR BHERR
28 AREHETERRE LY
AEH 2 EREDIREERTE - [
EERESHAR -

ARRBEFAEEDMHEZE
TR AR E WS Z AL
R - EERERGSHBEN RE
EHEERAREBRREEH 2 &
MER NERSETRE -

EEEFFMARFREESNE
FHRFEEL2EBIRMFRE &
KRR BEEGFEFIREE - RIE
ARBFEZEILE SEFR
HE_Z2-_—F=ZA=+—HItF
B 2B T

Type of trainings

Name of Director EENE EIER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lau Pak Man 2Max et A B

Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong BB St A B

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit 20+ A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Leung Chi Kin REER S A, B

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis MEHE S & A, B

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng) EFHEE A, B

A attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
economy, environmental protection business or director’s duties
and responsibilities etc.

A SRR EHE S TS R
B: BB RREBREFMAR
EESHEHOEE BRI REHEHN
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance :

(b) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management :

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements :

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors : and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the
Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees
and has delegated various responsibilities to the
committees including the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All the
Board committees perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference
which are available to shareholders of the Company
on the websites of both the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expense.

(A EFE(E)

EERRAE
ESSREETHEEERRBE
1

(a) ZERIEBHADAILEELRK
REFER

() BHLEBEEREREEA
BRI EERRR

@ HBHREBAQABREES
B LB TERRREERE

d R BHEREBEANESR
REFHBRTE A AT
(mA) R

() RIMARBERETTA -

ExZ8s
EXgETEXRI=EZES X
BEBBEDKEEZEE D)
REVZEE ((ERZBE)) ¥
MEzEe ((HFMEEE)) RIERE
Bg((R2%Bg)) -2#&E%%
BenrERanBRaERTHE
FEMBG  MZBEEERAR
AN R AT E AR R RE
Bl -BEEZ 826 RRERNET
HBE ZE/EEXT "wHaA
ARANEEESBEATSKELE
XER-
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THE BOARD (continued)
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on
26 March 2015 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3 of the Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on appointments and removal of external auditors;
review and to supervise the financial reporting process
and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
and risk management. The Audit Committee meets
regularly with management and external auditors
in reviewing the interim and annual reports of the
Company before submission to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Chi Kin
(being the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lam
Chi Hung Louis and Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also
known as lao Chi Meng). In compliance with Rule

3.21 of the Listing Rules, the chairman of the Audit
Committee possesses the appropriate professional and
accounting qualifications.

The Audit Committee convened three meetings during
the year with attendance of each member as follows:

(A ESE(E)

EREEY
ARRIRZZE—RF=A=+7"AH
RYBZZES  WER EmRA
321§ K £ 47 Bl M 8%+ 79 <7 Al
FCIBWMMTE FIUEEBES
B -BZEZE8ENEZHE AN
BZBANEZIRERAAEES
REEE EURERUBHERE
BEAEERNBEL REARE BB
Bt - BIZEZECREEE RINBIZ
BAMTHEE FREEYRS
NEFERFERSHIOER - B
RZSEPHRFERS

EVEZESh=-RBUIFRTES
AR BRERFREL (BREES
TR MEREERTFEEE -
BIR EWRANEI2UERE - BX
ZESIRABEESENEHE
FE o

ERZBENAFEREIT=ZRE
o BB RFRENT

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BOIEBRE

Mr. Leung Chi Kin (Chairman) RREBEE (EE) 3/3

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis WREME S AE 3/3
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EFHEE

(also known as lao Chi Meng) 3/3
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(A) THE BOARD (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration
Committee on 26 March 2015 with written terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph B.1 of the
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of our Group; review
performance based remuneration; and ensure none of
our Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of 3 members,
being Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao
Chi Meng) (being the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit and Mr. Leung Chi
Kin.

The Remuneration Committee convened one meeting
during the year with the attendance of each member as
follows:

(A EFE(E)

FHZES
ARBIR-_Z—RAF=ZA=-+/xH

RZFMEE S WEBR EMARA
Ff 8%+ O <T AR IR VIR E
FIVEmBERE - FHEEEN
IZRERRAEERMBEELS
REREENEEBHNBRERRER
EESRMER RARRAEE
R ARRESYEBTEH
R H) B o

FMEBRm-AREBMER  BIE
FoEL (FHEERER) B2
DB R RIS -

FHEZEEERAFERT—RE

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BITEHERE

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known - F&5E4 (F4)

as lao Chi Meng) (Chairman)

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit R LT
Mr. Leung Chi Kin REFEREE

il
il
VAl
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(A) THE BOARD (continued) (A E== (B)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the
annual remuneration (including bonus) of the members
of the senior management of the Group by band for
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Remuneration Band

FEEE

FHZES (&)

RIE ST A2 SF R SCEB. 5K - A
HE-_Z-—F=ZA=+—HItF
B AEESRERBABZFES
B (B IEFEAD) IR ERE F A a0 T ¢

Number of Senior
Management
SREEAEHE

Up to HK$1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee
on 26 March 2015 with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment
of Directors and the management of the Board
succession.

The Nomination Committee consists of 3 members,
being Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (being the chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong
and Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi
Meng).

The Nomination Committee convened one meeting
during the year with the attendance of each member as
follows:

1,000,000/ 7T A T~

REEESE

KRBV ZZE-—RHF=A=+/XH
RRBRZES - WHER ETHRA
By &%+ PO Tk <P R SEA SERHOIRE
AIVEERBERE - REREEN
ITERERNEEEFAEFTSR
HEELREEEEGNETEE -

REZEEHM=AKEENX A
THEE(REZEGER)  BR
SRERTFHEL -

REZEENAFERIT-RE
&% BB HFELENT
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THE BOARD (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

(A ESEE)

REZEE ()

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BITEBRH
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (Chairman) WEIE S & () 171
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong BREE S S 11
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EFHEE 11
(also known as lao Chi Meng)
Board Diversity Policy EEEHESTLEBER

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to the talent, skill,
regional and industry experience, background, gender
and other qualities.

The Board will consider putting in place measurable
objectives to implement the Policy and review such
objectives annually to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

ARRIERMEFTEXNEZTTLE
RUZBERD) - BEF#IIRERR
HEFEZERBEZTIEURAES
G 2B REZ I #t -

RIBEZBE  ARRREBEES
HEER (BRERETRRAEE - 58 -
WwERITELR SR HHEE
MERE) AEREFEXEZTE

ESEeREREEVGAERENE
MR Y EFiRZE BRI
BREABEEIEETERLZFER
ZHE -

REZBEEBEFMAZBER - A
RREFEBR -
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(B) FINANCIAL REPORTING AND (B) EAFERERR ABRELIE

INTERNAL CONTROL
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements
of the Group are published in a timely manner. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors
have prepared the financial statements of the Company
on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company’s external
auditors on the financial statements of the Group are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this
report.

External Auditor's Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remunerations
paid or payable to KPMG in respect of its audit
services and non-audit services are HK$1,215,000
and HK$435,000, respectively. The non-audit services
represent the service fee paid to KPMG for the review
of interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2020. The Audit Committee was
satisfied that the non-audit services in the Financial
Year 2020/21 did not affect the independence of the
auditor.

B 7% B8 3R
EERRESENETARELITE
kREBEERGRASEEEE
TE-—FE=ZA=+—HItEE
W BHRE -ER2NMERREEE
EMRAEE R TIBPBRE -
EEWANEETMASEAQRE
BRECEZENBREAREZ
EHRMRAZERTHEBAEE - &
It EFECRBECEEEREAR
NElZ B ISRE -

AR RINEZ BB AL B B 155
RZBMEETENARS BB
¥R

INERZE AT &
HE_T-_—®=ZA=+—HI1
FE ARRREEHGMEH
Frm A A B R B Z AR &I
BERRBEASENS 2S5 5 A
1,215,000/ 7T % 435,000/ 7T © 3F
EZRGERESH S EBE
MAEBEBEE—_T-_TF A=+
HIENEANFPHREEESNNR
BE ERLZEGERN —T-F
S RE BRI T
ZAZ HAD 2 B o
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND

INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures
have been designed for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publications
and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
and has engaged an external consultant to conduct an
assessment on the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls of the Group for the period from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020. The Board has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group and is satisfied that the
Group has complied with the Code in respect of
internal control from the period from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2020. The internal control is reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the executive
Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Board.

Company Secretary

The Company has appointed Ms. Wong Sin Yi Reginia,
who is an employee of the Company, as its company
secretary. Ms. Wong has confirmed that for the year
under review, she has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. The biography of
Ms. Wong is set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

(B)

IR KRB ()

M EREE IR
EEgREASENANIEERE
AERY - UREIEFUREEE
U EREEEEAREE - HBIR
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HEENENM EEEeD T H
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary
general meetings may be convened on the requisition
of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders may follow the procedures set
out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting
for any business specified in such written requisition.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Listing
Rules, and the applicable laws and regulations,
shareholders may propose a resolution at general
meetings of the Company by following the “Procedures
for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings” to
convene an extraordinary general meeting and propose
a resolution to be resolved at that extraordinary
general meeting. Please refer to the document titled
“Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General
Meetings” on the Company’s website for details.

(@)
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Shareholders’ Right (continued)

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office of the Company. The period for
lodgement of the notices required will commerce no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least seven days.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a Director are available on the
Company'’s website.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents since the Listing Date. The Articles are
available on the websites of both the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at 26/F, Park Avenue Tower, 5 Moreton Terrace,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (email: info@incon.hk).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR AR S

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
In Construction Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
In Construction Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 57 to 127, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Contract accounting estimates

Refer to accounting policies (2)(i) & (2)(p)(i) and notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of
foundation construction works in Hong Kong totalling
HK$378.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using output method, based on direct measurements
of the value of services delivered or surveys of work
performed and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group. Contract costs are
recognised when work is performed, together with any
provisions for expected contract losses. The recognition
of revenue and profit relies on management’s estimate
of the final outcome of each contract, which involves
the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in forecasting the costs to complete a
contract, in valuing contract variations, claims and
liguidated and ascertained damages, in estimating
the amount of expected losses and in assessing the
ability of the Group to deliver services according to the
agreed timetable.

We identified contract accounting estimates as a
key audit matter because the estimation of the total
contract revenue and total costs to complete contracts
is inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement and estimation and because
errors in the forecast of contract revenue and contract
costs could result in a material variance in the amount
of profit or loss recognised from contracts to date and,
therefore, in the current year.

BAsEE st BIH ()
BHBIHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our audit procedures to assess contract accounting
estimates included the following:

o assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the contract revenue
recognition processes;

o discussing with management the performance
of all contracts in progress during the year and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the forecast of contract revenue
and contract costs, including estimated costs
to completion, the recognition of variation
orders, the adequacy of contingency provisions
and the assessment of potential liquidated and
ascertained damages for contracts which were
behind schedule, by obtaining and assessing
information in connection the assumptions
adopted, including contract agreements and
sub-contracts, correspondence with customers
regarding contract variations and claims and
by considering historical outcomes for similar
contracts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
o obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total

estimated costs to completion for all contracts
in progress during the year and comparing,
on a sample basis, actual costs incurred at the
reporting date and future cost estimates with
agreements, certifications or correspondence
with subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management
in its assessment of the estimated costs to
completion;

3 challenging the assumptions and critical
judgements made by management which
impacted their estimations of the liquidated
and ascertained damages assessments by
comparing the key terms and conditions in the
assessments with contract agreements with
customers and by comparing the estimated
contract completion time with the Group's
updated progress report or correspondence
from customers;

o comparing the contract revenue recognised
for all contracts in progress during the
year with certifications from the surveyors
appointed by the customers or payment
applications from the in-house surveyor;
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B B E (5)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

o conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to
observe the progress of individual contracts
and discussing with site personnel the status
of each project and evaluating whether the
project progress was consistent with the
agreed timetable and the Group’s financial
accounting records;

° performing a retrospective review for
contracts completed during the current
year by comparing the final outcome of the
contracts with previous estimates made for
those contracts to assess the reliability of the
management’s forecasting process; and

o inspecting a sample of contract agreements
with customers and subcontractors to
identify key terms and conditions, including
contracting parties, the contract period,
contract sum, the scope of work, the
methodology for calculating liquidated and
ascertained damages, and evaluating whether
these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated
revenue and costs to complete in the forecast
of the outcome of the contract.
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B REE R E (&)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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B B E (5)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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B REE R E (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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B B E (5)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ho Wai Ming.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBRREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B EZ - -——F=A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 7T 7R )

2021 2020
=B _—ZT_TF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 F Tt
Revenue Wz 4 378,783 393,892
Direct costs HENSE (322,197) (367,701)
Gross profit EF 56,586 26,191
Other revenue H iz 5 5,784 1,968
Administrative and other THREMEERE
operating expenses (27,747) (22,586)
Profit from operations R 34,623 5,573
Finance costs BB A 6(a) (907) (1,236)
Profit before taxation BRBL AT A 6 33,716 4,337
Income tax PiRES 7(a) (5,013) (580)
Profit and total comprehensive FRBEFR
income for the year 2HENFAE 28,703 3,757
Earnings per share BREF GBAL)
(Hong Kong cents)
Basic and diluted HAREE 10 3.5 0.5

The notes on pages 62 to 127 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE AR R R

As at 31 March 2021 A= =—F=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JATT1 7R )

2021 2020
=B _—ZT_TF
Note $'000 $'000
b= Tt Tt
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B N RE 11 91 184
Lease receivables JE U FE & B 17(a) 10,347 15,159
Deferred tax assets RIEREEE 7(c)ii) 266 69
10,704 15,412
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BHEE 15(a) 180,768 189,499
Inventories 78 1,098 868
Lease receivables FEd B & FRIE 17(a) 4,812 4,606
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rt B FIA 13 109,139 129,182
Tax recoverable AU E B 7(c)(i) - 4,187
Cash and bank balances BE RIRITR 14(a) 55,995 46,125
351,812 374,467
Current liabilities RBERE
Contract liabilities EHAaE 15(b) 1,241 4,027
Trade and other payables B 5 K E At fE A FRIE 16 55,037 94,330
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(b) 4,815 4,615
Tax payable T IE 7(c)(i) 721 93
Bank loan — secured RITEFR KM 18 - 10,000
Loan from a shareholder REE X 19 13,000 13,000
... 1484 126,005
Net current assets RBEEFE _....276,998 248,402
Total assets less current liabilities #AZEERABER 287,702 263,814
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
e BERRE ()

Asat31 March 2021 R=ZE=_—F=A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA78 7T 517K )

2021 2020
=B _—ZT_TF
Note $'000 $'000
P 5 F F7
Non-current liability FREBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 170) 10330 15,145
NET ASSETS EEFRE 277,372 248,669
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAR#E 20
Share capital [N 20(c) 8,300 8,300
Reserves & 269,072 240,369
TOTAL EQUITY MR 277,372 248,669

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors FmEEeR —Z=——FxA - +RBHE

on 25 June 2021. R RET)E -
Lau Pak Man Cheng Wing Cheong 21832 1 =]
Director Director EFE EZE

The notes on pages 62 to 127 form part of these financial ~ Z62ZE 127 B KM FERERK L ZE M B IREK 2
statements. — &b °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E = -—F=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JATT1 7R )

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RRARERRRERL
Share Share Capital  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve profits equity
BREA  ROEE EBERE REEN BRER
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

T T T T T

At 1 April 2019 R=B-1EMA-A 8,300 75453 (35952) 197,111 244,912
Change in equity for 2020: —F-FFRHRH:

Profit and total comprehensive  F P 7 &

income for the year FEREEE - - - 3,757 3,757
At 31 March 2020 and R=2=%F=A=1-H
1 April 2020 R=F-2FNA-A 8300 75453  (35952) 200,868 248,669

Change in equity for 2021: —F=—FRz2H:

Profit and total comprehensive PRI &

income for the year FENSRR - - - 28,703 28,703
At 31 March 2021 R=B=-%
=A=t+-H 8,300 75,453 (35,952) 229,571 277,372

The notes on pages 62 to 127 form part of these financial ~ $62% 1278 &M SH#EAK I E W %8R 2 —
statements. B e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

MRERIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &

BT —F=F=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 7T 7R )

2021 2020
—E--f T -FHE
Note $'000 $'000
Fit & Tr Fr
Operating activities RETH
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &4 F715,/ (FrH) E 4 14(b) 21,861 (21,512)
Tax paid BERBE (395) (1,127)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBRE/(FA)
operating activities Re®® 21466 (22,639)
Investing activities REED
Payment for the purchase of property, REEME - WE K
plant and equipment BT (11) (36)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME - Jﬁzﬁ}?&
plant and equipment R TS 50R - 2.600
Interest received BUAE 683 570
Capital element of lease rentals received ~ BUHEMR S 2
BARTE 2,752 2,216
Interest element of lease rentals received ~ BUHEH®Z
_AISTER 502 442
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank SR SRATTF R
deposits (&), B (6,249) 1,184
Net cash (used in)/generated from R&EZE (FTA)/Fie
investing activities RERE o (2323)6976
Financing activities BMEEY
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENAEREZEARTE 14(c) (4,615) (4,403)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENAEREZFBTE 14(c) (751) (908)
Proceeds from loan from a shareholder R E R Z 55 IE 14(c) = 13,000
Proceeds from bank loan BITERZFTERIE 14(c) - 10,000
Repayment of bank loan ERFTER 14(c) (10,000) -
Interest paid for bank overdrafts R1T ﬁiZEH S (20) (43)
Interest paid for bank loan RITERZERF L 14(c) (136) (285)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEE (FfTA), e
financing activities ReRE . (15522) 17,361
Net increase in cash and ReRELEEN
cash equivalents BmEE 3,621 1,698
Cash and cash equivalents FPHNELR
at the beginning of the year REZEY 10,534 8,836
Cash and cash equivalents FEROBRERK
at the end of the year REEEN 14(a) 14,155 10,534

The notes on pages 62 to 127 form part of these financial

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BE 3 SR R B 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (A7 £ 517 )

GENERAL INFORMATION

In Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged as a contractor in the
foundation industry in Hong Kong. The Company was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 September 2014
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 April 2015.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.

—RAH
REZEEEREBRAR (ARAA])
FEMBRAG (KfEIAEE]) £
ZEARERNE BB ESE -
ARAFR-_ZE—MNWEHLA=-TH
ARERAEBESENFE2EQF
& (1961 FB3FEN » K45 E KB
s EHSEEEMRL AERES
(E/NETI

RARROR T —HFMHA+R
HERBHBMAXRZMIBRAM £
o

BEREFEER

(@) EXEH
WEMBRRTIIERAET S
A ([FEEGFEA
e)EMGZABERAZER
MR EEL ([BAM KR
HEA) (EReiEmeER
Z B RIE BB Rk E 2R
BEAGHER (BB E
Al ks 5l BB
REFTRAA KRB B R REGI
ZIRBHEMRR o tE
WK IPETHRTES L
AT EmARR) 2 3B #%E
FRIE o AT IR B AN S B AT iR An
MEZSEEUR ©

BAGREI G BMETH
AIRRETREAMBREE
A ZFRARAEEERE
ST B R RS R (R R AR
A o P E2(c)4R 1t B2 471 IR e R
LB RASIBMETBRZE
MEBHEEZEMN  ZEFER
PAZRERRE R IAAE & At B AR
SEM S BABLELEHE
HRP R



REZEERERAT
2021 R

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TLFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEFTEX(E)
(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial (b) FEBBHRRNELE

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

P RS R R BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 57 )

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of these
developments have had a material effect on how
the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TLFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREZFEXRE)

(continued)

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(g)), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).

(d) Subsidiaries (d HEAF
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the HBARARNEBETE 2B
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is B o EAKEEHSEIER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL717R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXE5TEE (E)
(continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) M¥ BRERRE
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost M - BRE KA TR AR
less accumulated depreciation and impairment ZETE RREEBEYE (R
losses (see note 2(g)). ffsE2(g)) °
Gains or losses arising from the retirement WELLEYE - RE REE
or disposal of an item of property, plant and FREE & 2 8z T A & TSR
equipment are determined as the difference SRR REEE M2
between the net disposal proceeds and the ERETE - WRHRESHEZ
carrying amount of the item and are recognised AfcfEam iR o
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of M - BB RSB ITER A
items of property, plant and equipment, less their BEAEELAT AT A] 7 F HAR
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight PR SH EL R AR (FNBR (AT TR 84
line method over their estimated useful lives as BE(E))TE :
follows:
—  Furniture and fixtures 5 years — RMREE 54
— Leasehold improvements ~ Shorter of lease — HEMEERE RHEEH
term and 5 years K54
(AB G &
— Motor vehicles 3/, years — A= 35
- Plant and machinery 5 years — BE RS 54
- Office equipment 5 years — PWAERE 54
Where parts of an item of property, plant and M —IBYZE - W MBS
equipment have different useful lives, the cost 22 A AE B AR - 8l
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis ZI B B 2 KA IRE
between the parts and each part is depreciated RS - mEEH S EER]
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its e - —IEEZFIERFE
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually. LEEE (WE) ST FE

78R -
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TLFI7R)

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

U]

(i)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for
the Group, are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leased assets (continued)

(f)

(@

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when
a lease is capitalised is initially measured
at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(g)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is
not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case the lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leased assets (continued)

U]

(ii)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 2(p)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate
lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in
note 2(f)(i), then the Group classifies the
sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets

(@

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs") on the
following items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
bank balances and trade and other
receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS
15 (see note 2(i)); and

- lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where
the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade
and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used
in the measurement of the lease
receivable.
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B RS R AR T EE ()
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEFTEX(E)
(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of (9) FEBEREEREH)
assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial () XREEBMIAREGHNE
instruments and contract assets ENEEEE (&)
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued) TR = BE R0 12 (&)
The maximum period considered T TEAE B BB R AT
when estimating ECLs is the maximum EZRMERABARSE
contractual period over which the Group is EmEEERRANRE
exposed to credit risk. SHHA -

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into R 2EHEEER
account reasonable and supportable B AEBESZRED
information that is available without undue EAN S ® N
cost or effort. This includes information TENA IS H & Al 5
about past events, current conditions and Bk tBERRABE
forecasts of future economic conditions. E - WAL R AR

LR TE R B R -

ECLs are measured on either of the TEEEEBEBEANLT
following bases: ZER—IEEEHE
= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that - NEAAEHEE
are expected to result from possible BB EHRER
default events within the 12 months H 181218 A M Al
after the reporting date; and BEEAEMENSE
14 2B B ey 78 2R

BE &

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that - Z2HBEHBEESE
are expected to result from all B EEEES
possible default events over the BEEAER R
expected lives of the items to which TEETFEIARTEE]
the ECL model applies. BRI E MG

HITEHAES1E o
Loss allowances for trade receivables, FEUE 5 8RR - FEMUR
retentions receivable, lease receivables Be BRHEERIER
and contract assets are always measured AHEEMEBRE—
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs BERERNZHEMNE
on these financial assets are estimated by EEENSHEGTE &
grouping together customers with similar EeMEENTRBGES

credit risk characteristics and collectively BB R AR B

assessing them for the risk or probability FEERBRFENE S

that a credit loss will occur based on - WARR SN E AT

external credit ratings and the exposure of T8 & PR AR
loss when the customers default. ENEBHEBE4AEE

B R E b S AT
SR AEITRE
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B RS SRR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL717R)

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of (9

assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (ii)
the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRZEHXR(E)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(0]

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on
either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(p)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(0]

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

- significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in
the period in which the recovery occurs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL717R)

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of (9

assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRZEHXR(E)
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of
the assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and
impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see
note 2(g)(i)).

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out
method and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

0]

Inventories (continued)

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(p)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2())).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 2(p)).
A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note

2(j).

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(k)

)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(i)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(g)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and in hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(m) Employee benefits

(n)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Group or the Company has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Group or the Company
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which,
in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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(continued)
(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities (o)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.

(ii) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the
Group has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous
contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost
of continuing with the contract.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRZEHXR(E)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEFTEX(E)
(continued)

(p) Revenue and other income (p) WEREAKA

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group's assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer,
or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contract revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by
the Group as a construction contract when
the contract relates to work on real estate
assets under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction
activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction
contract can be reasonably measured,
revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output
method based on direct measurements of
value of services delivered or surveys of
work performed.

The likelihood of the Group in suffering
contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2

EXRSHBE(E)

(p) Revenue and other income (p) WEREAMBA (F)

(continued)

(i) Construction contract revenue (i) EFESHWEE)
(continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot BEEHMERTRERE
be reasonably measured, revenue is ATER EBEMELEN
recognised only to the extent of contract B KK ATE B = e
costs incurred that are expected to be B 2 Rl
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the it 7 {R] B PR A & SR K
contract are estimated to exceed the BRI BREHRE
remaining amount of the consideration Fltr & %8 - BIRIRHT&E
under the contract, then a provision is 2(0)(ii)FT & BK 5K 1 3R
recognised in accordance with the policy 1o

set out in note 2(o)(ii).

(i) Rental income from operating leases (i) KLEHEEZHSWA
Rental income receivable under operating KETHEIR T 2 FEYTE
leases is recognised in profit or loss in WA TR E R E
equal instalments over the periods covered Z BRI AR S B A
by the lease term, except where an AR BERER - MERE
alternative basis is more representative of Bt EAEF gE KK E A
the pattern of benefits to be derived from HEEEMSHZm 2K
the use of the leased asset. L AIBRSN o

(iii) Interest income (i) FEWA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues MBI AREERAE
under the effective interest method using A EEE AR E
the rate that exactly discounts estimated EZEERAFHRAZ
future cash receipts through the expected il ET AR RIR & WA ZE T
life of the financial asset to the gross AR AE M EEARE
carrying amount of the financial asset. DR MR o

(iv) Government grants (iv) BUF#EL

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses incurred.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(q) Borrowings

(r)

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group’s parent.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r) Related parties (continued)

(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(n(1).

A person identified in (r)(1)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

2

EREHBE(E)

(s)

Pk &
REERNEERTAEEE
EBRENEERR &
EHRAARERDRITHRER
ABREMBER - BEER
B EMERT2HEE D H R
BN EEE W BAR -

ERERNRED BT ER
1ER TSR - BRIEBRED BEA
BRI B B am B R TS
HE  AERENE  BFPR
RIS HER - o HEE m PR AR
BHERAR I AR EEREN
M EARCL o W IEERE
EREE SR REA LitK
DR RERE DA T
MEAZH, -
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3

ESTIMATES
Critical accounting judgement in applying

the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgement:

Construction contracts

As explained in policy note 2(p)(i), revenue from
construction contracts are recognised over time.
Such revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted
projects are dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to
date. The Group reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders,
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared
by management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by the major sub-contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgeted construction costs by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on revenue and profit
recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future periods as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

2t HE R A ET

BB 2 B R R 2 Bk
&t

B A E Y ST - EE
BEEH AT @ 4B -

BEEN
FANBR M FE2(p) ()Pt - PR B AR
B HR I BERF I FER - BLARTTAK
IE S| ﬁﬁwumﬁﬁa Ll& &/ﬁnf”ﬂ}/}%ﬁ/\
HEESNWBERRESBHETT
BREE - ANEBRAEHNEITHRE
B RIETRE—DEESVRE
REEF A M E BHRARER
BR - -ERETKBEAMAIEE
DEE  HEBRERERAORE
J:A&%@E’J%&%ﬁ%%%ﬁiﬁk$ﬁ
c RIRFBTHEEABLER 18
Eﬁﬁﬁiﬂttfﬁgﬁgﬁéﬁiiﬁﬁ
ERRA - REBEKATEE

EEt A AW - B KA R E BN
NEEEHEARHE ﬁ%%%}é
S BERERWE Kom ) o ghih -
Eiﬂ’]”&zm&ﬁkﬁwﬁﬁTﬁ%E%ﬁi
ERRAREBROG - MBS
2870 oK K B R e 2R 9 LU 2 K )
EBHESTERESENAE -
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Revenue

Revenue represents revenue from construction
contracts earned during the year.

At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount
of revenue expected to be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the future
from the Group’s existing construction
contracts amounted to $675,830,000 (2020:
$587,544,000), which will be recognised when
the work is performed and which is expected to
occur over the next 1 year to 2 years (2020: over
the next 1 year to 2 years).

The Group has applied practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the
disclosure of revenue expected to be recognised
in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date with
performance obligation as part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker regards the
Group's business as a single operating segment
and reviews financial statements accordingly.
Also, the Group only engages its business in
Hong Kong. Therefore, no segment information
is presented.

(b)

N2

okt

K7 #BE R

Uy 35

W Es R POBTRERIZ A 10
I3 -

RZEBE-_—F=A=+—8 "
AEERGEESHIE NTEH
RAREMIGEBRREME
AlERERN NS RER
675,830,00070 (=T =F4F
$587,544,0007T) ' 1§ R #ETT
Ti21& MR - TEHIR AR RIF
BIFMBE(ZTEZTF R
1 FE2FER) o

AEECEATBIEHRELE
RIS 1557121 B R E R
HA% e piss AHE
£ MEFBLBHRTHNER
TEHARARR A—F A THRF
B4 - WERTETR BAERD
26 o

TBERERRERAEEDN
R —EE—KENE - I
BRI FEBMBFRE - 1o K
SEANEBLLEHER -
gt WES 5D EEF o
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4

INFORMATION (continued)
() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing over 10%

Wz & 2 EE R ()

(0 FHEEXEERFZESH
RAEBE B RS HKI0%IA

of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: FERMEPENT
2021 2020
—E--F Z—IT-FTF
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Customer A Z2EA 71,102 124,980
Customer B =ZFB 121,813 187,892
OTHER REVENUE 5 Hibkzs
2021 2020
—E--F CZT-FF
$'000 $'000
F T Tt
Bank interest income SRITH B U A 683 570
Interest income from lease receivables [ U 7H & 718 2
FLEUA 775 917
Sales of scrap materials 5 R 1,747 296
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 3E) 2,468 -
Others Hih 111 185
5,784 1,968

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group successfully
applied for funding support from the Employment Support
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Government”). The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who
would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the
grant, the Group is required not to make redundancies during
the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages
to the employees.

fizt: BE-T-—F=A=+—HIHH"
&R B B A R BB BT BUR BT
(B Rz RES T
MMRELEI GBI FAR) - HMES
M E M =B BEDERAI R
BB P EINE S - SMRB A
BEEHUEAMES o BB &R
FEBANFEBPARTEHE 1T
FMEMBESARINERTE -
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6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 BRBIANER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREADEF DI GEA) L T&
(crediting): I8 :
2021 2020
—E-—-F ZT-FTF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
(a) Finance costs (a) ®BERAK
Interest on bank loan IRITE A B
(note 14(c)) (FFEE14(C) 136 285
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZ
(note 14(c)) F2 (B EE14(0) 751 908
Interest on bank overdrafts RITHEZFE 20 43
907 1,236
(b) Staff costs (including (b) BIMKAE
directors’ remuneration) (BEEEFH)
Contributions to defined REE TR B R
contribution retirement plans 728 780
Salaries, wages and other benefits He 1EN
H Ath 48 F) 27,806 28,727
28,534 29,507
() Other items (0 HfEH
Depreciation e 104 2505
Lease payments relating to leases RKEEBEEEZ
of low-value assets HEEH 40 33
Lease payments relating to RHEIEA 2
short-term leases HEEHA 1,192 1,192
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss FER (Wak) 1Bk (1,979) 1,579
Write-off of trade and other B 5 Rk H A U GRIA
receivables Jif B 6,115 220
Impairment losses on trade and 25 - Hittfe U zIE
other receivables and contract REHNEBEZ
assets VERIERELE] 1,150 =
Auditors’ remuneration AN &
— audit services - ZE RS 1,215 1,180

— other services - B b iR 7% 435 420
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7 INCOME TAX 7 FEB
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) #HEBEERHMEZEKRERA
of profit or loss and other comprehensive TS HiiE :
income represents:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Current tax S HA R 18
Provision for Hong Kong REEES
Profits Tax for the year F 1B 71 B 5,210 576
Under-provision in BAEFEOREE
respect of prior years - 31
5,210 607
Deferred tax 3 FE B 18
Origination and reversal of TR E L R D
temporary differences (197)  @27)
5,013 580
Notes: B 5 -

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group
is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 is
calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for a subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For the subsidiary of the Group, the first $2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated on the same basis
in 2020.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 has
also taken into account a reduction of 100% of the
tax payable for the year of assessment 2020-21 subject
to a maximum reduction of $10,000 granted by the
Government for each business (2020: a reduction of
100% of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2019-20 subject to a maximum reduction of $20,000).

(ii)

REFERERABELEHS
((RBELZES]) WHRRIER
Bl - AEEBEBMHASHS
R B LR BIERIFST

BREENHBRARREER
1 25 VAR A% 1) F1 45 B =K ) B
Sh - ZB - —FEFEMSHA
16.5% (ZT =T F : 16.5%)
REFRERRPIG R -

£ @yt B8 A B 52,000,000/
TC T 4R8.25% B A TR 3K - 1M B
T Z FE A8 BRI Bl 4216.5% 44
MBI o FHEBRABFB B AE
Al =T —TFER -

—E - FERBANEREE
NEFABENRSEBR =T
—EE_T-_—FRBEFE
) FE 5 B TEDRL 2100% (% %
J210,0007T) Bt E (=2 =
TE RZIT-NEZT=ZT
FRBFENEMFBRE
100% (5§ % & %#.20,0007T)) ©
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7 INCOME TAX (continued) 7 FiB% (88)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense (b) RERABERFEMNMEHEX
and accounting profit before taxation at BE BR B AT & 5% I A AR 40
applicable tax rate: T

2021 2020

=B _—ZT_TF

$'000 $'000

P T

Profit before taxation PR 750 A1 A1 33,716 4,337

Notional tax on profit before BB AT E R R B E IR

taxation 5,398 550
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ ] #1552 FIFH 75 57 2 43 39
Tax effect of non-taxable income EEL I ONL A (408) -
Statutory tax concession EEMBER (20) (40)
Under-provision in prior years BEFEDROER = 31
Actual income tax expense ERERHMAY 5,013 580

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of () HEHBRIRRPAERE:
financial position represents:

2021 2020
—B--F T -FF
$'000 $'000
SFoT SEE
(i) Current taxation RER B E
Provision for Hong Kong FRNBBNEHE B
Profits Tax for the year 5,210 576
Provisional Profits Tax paid BRSNS (302) (3,183)
4,908 (2,607)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits A RA@EFE A U [El
Tax recoverable relating to ERBNG T AR
prior years (4,187) (1,487)
721 (4,094)
Representing: Rk
Tax payable FE LR 721 93
Tax recoverable Al g = IE = (4,187)

721 (4,094)
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7 INCOME TAX (continued) 7 P (&)
() Income tax in the consolidated statement of () HEMBARRRFBFERE:
financial position represents: (continued) (&)

(ii) Deferred tax assets in the consolidated (i) FEFBRARANIE
statement of financial position EBEEER
represents:

The components of deferred tax assets ARG B TSR S 2R R T
recognised in the consolidated statement REVR T IA & E AR
of financial position and the movements o RERNEEWT
during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
in excess of
related
depreciation  Credit loss
allowances  allowance Total
BUMERE GEFBZ
ZHEEHE SBE @
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tt T T
Deferred tax arising from: BT R FE
At 1 April 2019 R=B-hEmA-A 4 - 1)
Credited to profit or loss FTABRRER 27 = 27
At 31 March 2020 and R-B-8F=A=t-H
1 April 2020 k=2-%fNA-A 69 - 69
Credited to profit or loss AR 7 190 197
At 31 March 2021 R-B--f=A=1-H 76 190 266

(d) There were no material unrecognised deferred
tax assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

(d R-FB_—FK_T_THF=
A=+—8  UEERRHER
EERBEERAR -
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8 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8 EEEHM
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section RIRE B R EHEDI R38R KR A
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Al(BEHAESZENER 2 HEE) R
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information F2HFAEBECEZHMAT

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021
B2-E--E-B=1-ALEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits scheme
fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
e 2UR BARGHE
EShe ENRlE i #3% @t
§'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r r r i
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Pak Man Bfaxks - 1,512 2% - 1,538
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong HRERA = 1,512 2 - 1,538
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit BALTT - 1,525 26 18 1,569
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Leung Chi Kin REEEL 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis WEE L E 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EF&EE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) 150 - - - 150

Total &5t 450 4,549 78 18 5,095
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8 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8 EEHM(E

(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020
BE-ZB-BE-A=T-RIt4E

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors'  and benefits scheme
fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
e 2R RIRGE
R ENFla e 3 &z
$'000 $'000 $'000 $/000 $'000
i i i i T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Pak Man sy @it - 1,488 180 9 1677
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong PRERE - 1,488 180 18 1,686
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit BZohat - 1,501 242 18 1,761
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Leung Chi Kin DEREL 150 = - - 150
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis IS A 150 = - - 150
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EF8%EE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) 150 - - - 150
Total gt 450 4477 602 45 5,574
Notes: B EE -
(i) No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during @) BMEEERBE-_T-—FR-Z=
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. ZE=RA=1T—BLEFEREXRE
TREE A ST B -
(ii) The Company did not have any share option scheme for the (ii) RBEE-_Z-_—FR-_Z-_TF=A
purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the years =+—BIEFE - KRR ELEE(AE

ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. BARR L BREEREE -
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9 EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST 9 FHUBSFMALESHE
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR BE 2 &5
MANAGEMENT
(@) Emoluments of five highest paid () FUSREHMALZEHMH

individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group RERAEE RN RSHIA
during the year include three (2020: three) T EEEE A s
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in M=REE(ZTTF: =
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in H) c BEESA LT ZE A
respect of the remaining individuals are as AT :
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —T_T4H
$'000 $'000
T SEIE
Salaries, allowances and benefits e MR
in kind EWH e 1,548 1,475
Discretionary bonuses BIEIEAL 102 176
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B3R 36 36
1,686 1,687
The emoluments of the above individuals are it ATEBNE T 5 S

within the following bands:

2021 2020
—E-—F Z—ZT-FF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

AE A

Nil to $1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007T 2 2
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9 EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(a)

(b)

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of the directors and
five highest paid individuals disclosed in notes
8 and 9(a), the emoluments of the remaining
senior management fell within the following
band:

9

TfusesFMALTRSHRE

gz M (&)

b) BEREZENHS
% M EE8 2 9(a) P B BE 1) B B
RAMSEHFMAL S

S RTERRERENHE B
THIEE

2021 2020
=B _—ZT_-TF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to $1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007T 1 1
10 EARNINGS PER SHARE 10 SREF
Basic earnings per share (a) BREXEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share BREARBAIZRA R A
is based on the profit attributable to equity [i% 3R & 15 & 41128,703,0007T
shareholders of the Company of $28,703,000 (ZE=_ZF :3,757,0007T)
(2020: $3,757,000) and the weighted average of N B BT AR 0 I #E 39 &
830,000,000 shares in issue (2020: 830,000,000 830,000,0000% (= =F 4 :
shares). 830,000,0000%) 5+ & -
Diluted earnings per share (b) EREFERF

There were no diluted potential shares in
existence during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

REE-_Z-_—FR-_FB-FT
FZA=+—HILFE ' HE
EEEERG -
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥% - BER&RE

Plant and Leasehold Furniture Motor Office
machinery  improvements  and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
BER HENE AR

Ha &E %8 RE BOERRE @it

§'000 $1000 §'000 §'000 $'000 §'000

T Tr T T T S
Cost: A
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-A 1,062 995 693 1,288 1,946 5,984
Additions AE = = = - 36 36
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-FE=f=1-A 1,062 995 693 1,288 1,982 6,020
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-SENA-A 1,062 995 693 1288 1,982 6,020
Additions NE - - - - 11 11
At 31 March 2021 RZFZ-4=f=1-H 1,062 995 693 1,288 1,993 6,031
Accumulated depreciation:  ZiH 7% :
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEWA-A 1,062 94 656 1171 1,767 5,581
Charge for the year ERER - 71 2 78 8 255
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-EE=A=1t-A | 1002 9% 78 1250 1851 5836
At 1 April 2020 RZZZFEMNA-A 1,062 995 678 1,250 1,851 5836
Charge for the year EREY - - 8 38 58 104
At 31 March 2021 R-B--#=f=t-A | e 9 686 128 1909 5340
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 March 2021 R-E-—#=f=1-H = = 7 = 84 91

At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZF=F=1-H - - 15 38 131 184
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12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12 RBARIZIRE
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TEREEAEBEMBARZFFE
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless BIERHRA - TEFERGERN AL
otherwise stated. B -

Proportion of ownership interest

itk ]
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective Held by Held by
Name of company and business paid-up capital interest  the Company ~ asubsidiary Principal activity
BRI BERE A5H ARE
ARER X ERAGE HifEs fi%  KEARME IEXR
In Construction (BVI) Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
EBRAHS 1R1ET2 et RARK
In Construction Limited Hong Kong 14,000,000 shares 100% - 100%  Construction and
(2020: engineering
9,300,000 shares)
RERERRAT A& 14000000RHH BEIR
(222%%:

9,300,000 (3)
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 13 BEFZRHMEKKIE
2021 2020
=B _—ZTEFTF
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Trade debtors, net of loss allowance — FEUZE 5 BR X (3N RE B &
1275 %R) 56,920 57,569
Deposits, prepayments and other e BIREMER
receivables (Notes (i) and (ii)) FRIA (PR () B i) 24,722 38,101
Retentions receivable, net of loss EWRE © (HIRRBEREER
allowance (Note (iii)) JERE) (B (i) 27,487 33,502
Amounts due from shareholders JRE U5 A% 3R SR T8 (B (iv) )
(Note (iv)) 10 10
109,139 129,182
Notes: B 5E

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2021, except for the balance of $545,500
(2020: $37,500) which was expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after one year, all of the remaining
balances were expected to be recovered or recognised as

expense within one year.

As at 31 March 2021, deposits of $22,411,000 (2020:
$30,312,000) were pledged to secure the issuance of

performance bonds (see note 22).

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, all the retentions receivable
were expected to be recovered within one year.

The amounts due from shareholders at 31 March 2021 and
2020 were unsecured, interest-free and expected to be
recovered within one year.

(i)

(i

(iif)

R—ZZE-_—F=ZA=+—H" K
545,5007C (ZF =24 : 37,5007T) &
R —F R E sk iR - FTE #®E
TEEIR —F AR E R AL -

R=T=——F=A=+—A ' 22,411,000
TS (ZZT =24 :30,312,0007T)
B R A B AORE (RHTEE22) ©

N R —E-—TE=—f=+—
B AERBRESEHR —FAK
@ -

KRB —FRZB-FF=RA=1—
BZEBRRRIBAELST 28Rk
TEHR—FREE -
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 13 BESKHMEWRFIE (&)
(continued)
(a) Ageing analysis (@) FRERDHT
Included in trade and other receivables are trade B 5 M HEMEWRGRIER B IERE
debtors, based on the invoice date (net of loss B 5 8RR - B BiRiR
allowance) with the following ageing analysis at % A H R ERER AR
the end of the reporting period: BT -
2021 2020
—E--F —IT-FF
$'000 $'000
T T
Within 1 month —@AA 34,024 12,965
Over 1 month but within 2 months #8318 — 1 A8 R R & A A 20,689 38,288
Over 2 months but within 3 months #2838/ & A 87X =18 7 A - 5,076
Over 3 months =AML 2,207 1,240
56,920 57,569
Trade debtors are normally due within 14-30 FEWE S RZGAE BRE B A
days from the date of billing. Further details F14ZE30H N EH - BRI
on the Group's credit policy are set out in note SEEEBOR 2 #E—TFHIER
21(a). KK EE21@) ©
14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 BERIBITERS
(a) Cash and bank balances comprise: () BRERBTFEHREE:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFEAS 14,155 10,534
Deposits with banks RITIE 41,840 35,591
Cash and bank balances in the REMBRARPIES
consolidated statement of FERITH &%
financial position 55,995 46,125
Less: Restricted bank balances (note)  J& : PR &SR 17458
(P =E) (41,840) (35,591)
Cash and cash equivalents in the FeRenERPHESE
consolidated cash flow statement KRS EEY 14,155 10,534
Note: Restricted bank balances are deposits placed in banks to BiFE - RBRGIRITARIETFRRITIA
secure the issuance of performance bonds (see note 22) BRE L EORSE (RME22)

and banking facilities. RARITRE 2 73K -



REZEERERAT
2021 R

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TLFI7R)

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 RERIMITER (B)

(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before (b) BRBAIERELEFRS
taxation to cash generated from/ (FTRA)REZHE :
(used in) operations:

2021 2020
=B-—F _ZT_EFF
Note $'000 $'000
Bt 5E F Tt
Operating activities REES
Profit before taxation IRl 33,716 4,337
Adjustments for: NG| & BT
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 5 (683) (570)
Interest income from FEWHEE
lease receivables I Z B A 5 (775) 917)
Finance costs Bl & R AN 6(a) 907 1,236
Depreciation e 6(c) 104 255
Write-off of trade and B 5 Rk E At fEWRIE
other receivables I AR 6(c) 6,115 -
Impairment losses on trade & 5 & H it fE Y 518
and other receivables and KA KEEZHIE
contract assets B 6(c) 1,150 -
Changes in working capital: &E& ¢ & 8) :
Decrease in trade B 5 KHAM
and other receivables JE U FR I R > 15,616 14,492
Decrease/(increase) in BHEE
contract assets B, (3hn) 7,911 (60,757)
(Increase)/decrease in & 0Em), R
inventories (230) 646
(Decrease)/increase in trade & 5 K E fth
and other payables JE I I8
R ),/ 1 hn (39,184) 17,977
(Decrease)/increase in EHaE
contract liabilities CRL ), /48 0 (2,786) 1,789

Cash generated from/ w1 (FrA)
(used in) operations R& 21,861 (21,512)
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14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 RERIBITEHESR (E)
(continued) -
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising (0 RMEZHFEEEENHE
from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's PNRFFAFAREERERE
liabilities from financing activities, including both EHHEEED  BiERER
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising FREEE - MEEHELH
from financing activities are liabilities for which Efﬁlﬁfﬁﬁ/}mg??ﬂgfﬁﬁﬁ
cash flows are, or future cash flows will be, EFENEERE - WKHES
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow HAREZHNRETARE
statement as cash flows from financing activities. EiFeREemER °
Bank loan-  Loan from a Lease
secured shareholder liabilities Total
RiTER- .
i RRER HERE @it
(Note 18) (Note 19) (Note 17(b)
(HiE18) (Rt3E19) (E070)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
At 1 April 2019 R-#-n%mA-R - - 061 2060
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BEREHESH .
Capital element of lease rentals paid xffERe RS - - (4,403) (4,403)
Interest element of lease rentals paid imﬁgﬁﬁﬂ‘l g - - (%08) (908)
Proceeds from loan from a shareholder R EZFAE R - 13,000 - 13,000
Proceeds from bank loan RITERFRETE 10,000 - - 10,000
Interest paid for bank loan TRBTER ﬂﬁ (285) - - (285)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BER£RE28 2% 9,715 13,000 (5311) 17404
Other changes: EfRE:
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) M (Bi6() 285 - 908 1193
Lease liabities obtained during the year ~ EREBEESE - - 3492 349
Total other changes Agser 00 % - dd0 4685
At31March 2020 and 1 April 2020 ~ R=F-BE=B=+-AR
“EIBEMA-A 10,000 13,000 19,760 42,760
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BEREHESH:
Capital element of lease rentals paid TAfERe A% - - 4,615) (4,615)
Interest element of lease rentals paid THAEREZFIE - - (751) (751)
Repayment of bank loan EERTER (10,000) - - (10,000)
Interest paid for bank loan SGE Gt (136) - = (136)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BER£REESES (10,136) - (513_66_) _______ (_1 5502) )
Other change: AR
Interest expenses (note 6(a) ESTIGRELE) 136 = 751 887
Total other change Agmer 0000 B - oo 87
At 31 March 2021 RZB=-&
=A=T—H = 13,000 15,145 28,145
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14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 RERIBRITLHER (E)
(continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d HEZ#EFRSRH
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for HERRSRERAMFIA :

leases comprise the following:

2021 2020
—E-—-F ZT-ETHF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Within operating cash flows REEBRERE 1,232 1,225
Within financing cash flows RBERERE 5,366 5,311
6,598 6,536
These amounts relate to the following: FIBBIELAT
2021 2020
—EB--F —2-E%F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Lease rentals paid ENHEERES 6,598 6,536
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 15 &HEEREHNERE

LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (@) EBHEE
2021 2020
—E--F Z—ET-EFF
$'000 $'000
SEoE T
Contract assets BHEE
Arising from performance under BITRESHMES
construction contracts 180,768 189,499

The Group's construction contracts normally
include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the construction period
once milestones are reached. These payment
schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group also typically agrees
to a one year retention period for 5% to 10%
of the contract value. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final
payment is conditional on the Group’s work
satisfactorily passing inspection.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
rights to consideration for work completed but
not yet billed at the year end date. The decrease
in contract assets in 2021 was the result of the
decrease in the provision of construction services
at the end of the year. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

The amount of contract assets that is expected
to be recovered after more than one year is
$4,855,000 (2020: $33,865,000), all of which
related to retentions.

The amount of revenue recognised during the
year from performance obligations satisfied
(or partially satisfied) in previous periods is
$41,309,000 (2020: $13,051,000), mainly due to
the changes in estimate of the transaction price
of certain construction contracts.

AEEMEERSOBEHAN
REEE - REREEHRE
BE T 2R D BEER K
1 o ZENRERERY 1E R
RAGHEE - NEBBET
RE—FHREFH  RESH
S RIEERNS%ZET10% © R
AEEZHZERANRAOE
MAGEAEENITIESARE
HimBIRERE T AIER - Bk
SHARNWEE  EERT
MR L

ANEETZENAEEZE
RELEBEERERELRE
TEHRENETR - —ZT=F
FNEHNEERVERBESF
HERIREMEERSRD - &
HE& EERN T R N AR B A
B A EINE B BRFK o

TEEIR —F RN E S EES
%8/54,855,000 T (- =&
£ : 33,865,0007T) © & &B £
RBEESHH -

FERMN E—HBREEK (3
o ERK) B4 E TRERA UL
28 % %8 /41,309,0007T (=&
—Z 4 :13,051,0007T) * *£
DRAETERANETRS
BEHIREE -
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 15 EHNEERGHNEE(E)
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Contract liabilities b) &HEE
2021 2020
—E-—-F Z—ZT-ETF
$'000 $'000
SPoT T
Contract liabilities EHEaE
Construction contracts BEEN
— Billings in advance of performance  — & £ Al {5t 3% 1,241 4,027
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the SHEBEEZEERBKEPHMR
advanced consideration received from customers, BRHERE - BREAWE IR
for which revenue is recognised based on the RHEARGEEZER -
progress of the provision of related services.
Movements in contract liabilities are explained as EHNEENEHEMMT
follows:
2021 2020
—B--F —ZT-FF
$'000 $'000
o SEaT
Balance at 1 April MA—HBHz&t 4,027 2,238
Revenue recognised that was included FF AFHIE KB ELEH
in the contract liabilities balance 2 BRI
at the beginning of the year (2,786) (75)
Increase in contract liabilities as BEE IR R BA AT
a result of billing in advance of RN E D A&
construction activities - 1,864

Balance at 31 March =B=+—HBz#&& 1,241 4,027




IN CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

P RS R R BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 57 )

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16 BZRHEMENKIE
2021 2020
=B _—T_TF
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Trade creditors FETE 5 BRER 43,870 86,039
Other payables and accruals HibhENRIE R ETER 11,167 8,291
55,037 94,330
Included in trade and other payables are trade FTAE S REMER KIS
creditors, based on invoice date, with the following ERTE SRR - RIS BRIE
ageing analysis at the end of the reporting period: BEEBZERROTAT
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Within 1 month —f@ARA 3,255 38,166
Over 1 month but within 2 months BiE—E B ERMEARR 8,533 13,377
Over 2 months but within 3 months  R:BR{E A ER =5 A 13,093 4,498
Over 3 months =AU E 18,989 29,998

43,870 86,039
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17 LEASES 17 #HE

(a) Lease receivables (a) EWREENRE
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had REZBEZ—FR-IZ-TF=
lease receivables as follows: A=+—8 ' x&BE#HB0T

AR &R0

2021 2020
ZE--£ 2
Present value Present value

of the minimum ~ Total minimum ~ of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments

BEAE BEHE SERE SERE
BT fIR8% QBT f3a%
§000 §1000 $1000 $/000
S i T T
Within 1 year —FR 4812 5319 4,606 5,379
After 1 year but within 2years ~ —F&ERER 5,026 5379 4812 5379
After 2 years but within 5years  AAFAETER 532 5,451 10,347 10,832
. 04 . 080 . B ] 16211

15,159 16,209 19,765 21,590

Less: total uneamed finance B - ARBRERALE
income (1,050) (1,825)

Present value of lease receivables EREEZE B E 15,159 19,765
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17 LEASES (continued) 17 HE(E)

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had RZEZ—FRZZFZTF=
lease liabilities as follows: RA=+—8 KX&EE#HBHT
HEAE:
2021 2020
ZEC-F i
Present value Present value

of the minimum ~ Total minimum ~ of the minimum Total minimum

lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments

sERE ERE SERE FERE

fIRE DS {53 E NREE

§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

T T Tr T

Within 1 year —ER 4,815 5,366 4,615 5,366
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —F £ BRER 5,024 5,366 4815 5,366
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ REZERER 5,306 5432 10330 10,798
. 030 . 0% . B ] 16,164 _

15,145 16,164 19,760 21,530

Less: total future interest expenses 5 : B/4T| EF 2% (1,019 (1,770)
Present value of lease liabilites  REBE2HE 15,145 19,760
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had RIZEZ—FR-ZF-FTF=

three hire purchase agreements with a bank each
with terms of five years for the hire of 27 sets
of machinery which were pledged as security
under the agreements. In relation to these sets
of machinery, the Group has entered into lease
agreements with sub-contractor for the same
lease period and at a monthly rental that coincide
with the terms of and the amount of monthly
hire rent payable under the corresponding hire
purchase agreements that cover the particular
machinery in the current and prior years.

A=A=+—B A&EEHE—
RMBTE=HRBAFNHE
BB 15 - AT 278 # 25
BRAKSEREGRDIEAES
G o Bz ERERM S - A
SEEBY 5 ERA]
ERBERZ  AFEREF
EE AN ERBSERRZ
HEAEGE R RS ARE
MHseE—H-
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18 BANK LOAN - SECURED

19

18 MITER KA

2021 2020

=B _ZT_TF

$'000 $'000

o T

Within 1 year or on demand —FR—EER = 10,000

At 31 March 2020, the bank loan was secured by bank
deposits with aggregate value of $13,000,000, interest
bearing at 4.3% per annum and was repaid during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER

The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable by serving two months’ notice.

19

R-2-F=A=+-R 877
B AR TTZ A ££%513,000,000
AR RN BIER=F
S—FZA=t-REAEE-

BRER
BEEREMEN - %8 REEAN
SR A mAT -
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20 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 20 EXK#E
(a) Movement in components of equity (a) REBEMHDZEH
The reconciliation between the opening and REBGEERSAEK IR
closing balances of each component of the BN R EAR A RN E BRE N R &
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the EREER - RARNFI R
consolidated statement of changes in equity. FRZEAERHER D 2 5F
Details of the Company’s individual components BHR T X :

of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:

The Company

PiN/N|
Share Share Retained
capital premium profits Total
& B 175 8 REBBEF st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
Balance at R=Z-NLF
1 April 2019 mA—HBz&H 8,300 75,453 45,157 128,910
Profit and total FRaflRERRE
comprehensive Ek
income for the year - - 1,316 1,316
Balance at R-ZB-2F
31 March 2020 ZA=+-A2
g3 8,300 75,453 46,473 130,226
Balance at R-B-EE
1 April 2020 B-Bz&H 8,300 75,453 46,473 130,226
Profit and total FRRAREERE
comprehensive k)
income for the year - - 6,039 6,039
Balance at R-B=-F
31 March 2021 ZA=t+-H2

Fog-os 8,300 75,453 52,512 136,265
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20 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 20
(b) Dividend
The board of directors has resolved not to declare
any final dividend for the year ended 31 March

EXR it ()
b) ke

EFgREN-T_—F=A
=t —HTEREMRE (=

2021 (2020: Nil). TTF M)
(c) Share capital (9 KA
The Company
NG|
2021 2020
“E--F 2
No. of shares Amount  No. of shares Amount
RAEE &8 i SEE! &8
$'000 $'000
Tr T
Authorised - ordinary ~ EE-BRO0TZEER :
shares of $0.01 each:
At 1 April and 31 March ~ ®EA—-AR=A=+—F 2,000,000,000 20,000 2,000,000,000 20,000
Ordinary shares, issued &R ERTRAR:
and fully paid:
At 1 Apriland 31 March ~ #MA-BR=A=t-8 830,000,000 8,300 830,000,000 8,300

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled
to receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

TRBRFEA AGRKETE
FIRZIE - WHEERRR
BRERRE EAGRAMDER—
R o MAEBRBARREZH
BREEMSIZ AR -
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20 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(e)

(@

(i)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its
memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be
paid to the equity shareholders out
of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company will be able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve was created as a result
of the reorganisation to rationalise the
Group structure in preparation for the
listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
the Company's reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, was
$127,965,000 (2020: $121,926,000). The
directors did not propose any final dividend after
the end of the reporting period (2020: Nil).

20

B K f#E (GE)
d) REOHEEREG
M) BRuE

(e)

BaEREFEEHS
REPERE  NABR
I 42 2 AR S A5 20 TR B
BERAREREME
2 KA K 4RI R {5k 3C
(WA) AR EE

BIFEREE AN IR
KB E R RARER
AR AR
HIMERS - BRI #
PR 73 (B AR A A M
BRI DRSS

(i) BEAMHE
HREAREFAR DA
BRI TA B 3 P L A
AR BERE - MR
BN -

RETDIRKEE

RZE-_—F=A=+—8
AR R A 5 R F AR FE
mREREERE RER
SEBRERAEAURARRMA
BERAARAANGE) A
127,965,0007T (= F —Z4F
121,926,0007T) ° 1A R & Bf
Rz - EBWEERREMR
REIR B (— T —T4F  4E) o
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20 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

U]

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern in order to fund
its construction business, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholder returns
that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Government requires contractors on the
list of approved contractors for public works
(the “List”) to maintain such minimum working
capital as the Government may from time to time
determine (the “Required Minimum Working
Capital”). A subsidiary of the Company is subject
to the Required Minimum Working Capital as the
subsidiary is a contractor on the List. Except for
this, neither the Company nor of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

20

BARK f#f ()

()

BEXERE
RAEBEREANERRRE
REREERISHEG SR
BEERRL ) - AREESEE
BRE - AREERER - [
FaRER M FA AR
a7 0 WHERRENERIRIELA
WIEEESRA

REE TR NE B e
HERRRE - UHEHRESRE
B (B RE RSB AR
=) EBIRRESMANES R
IRIEZ T - A RARBA
AR R B B AR RE(E

B &R A5 R R AT
e (&M e AR
HRFABTTREENA R
RELEEAR (BEREE
BEAR]) - ARE—RHBA
AREEREZLEERNSR
R RERZHBAR AR
EHEGER  BRULDASN - AR
Al ME KB A RIS SMNERHE
MERRENRR
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 21
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to bank deposits, trade receivables, retentions
receivable, lease receivables and contract assets.
The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
sound credit ratings and the Group has exposure
limit to any single financial institution. Given
their high credit ratings, management does not
expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets

In respect of trade receivables, retentions
receivable, lease receivables and contract assets,
individual credit evaluations are performed as
part of the acceptance procedures for new
construction contracts. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 14-30 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

BEEBEERSRTAN
AR

ARERHEBBRDATEE -
RBESRFRAR - AEEET
ZEAREAEEANTEREA
i ) 5 7 B TR R A
Fxe

(a)

FERE

AEENEERBREERG
RITHER - BRREZIERSK - &
WiREE - RWEESERE
MEE - ERECEREER
R URHEEEZEEER

G o
A

ReFRFRRRIFEEF
R T RS - AR E TR
F-ERBERERE - ERX
ZECRBBREASEEN
R EREITERAZEESH
BELHTF S TREETAEE

EWE B - ERRE T
ERBEARRENEE

FhEWE PR - EAIRE
T BREHERBERSNEE
ms @ AEESETEEE
Az E RS NIRNEFF
—ED o WEFZETREF
BES A BIFIRIBER RS R R
RHNREED - LB ERFH
REBMEEPEREMERE
RENBER - BKE SFER
REAMBEFTHE=1THR
AH - AEE-RIEAEP
WL o
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has significant concentration of credit risk in a
few customers. In view of their credit standing,
good payment record and long established
relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group'’s credit risk to be
significant. At 31 March 2021, 22% (2020:
38%) and 65% (2020: 65%) of the total
trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets was due from the
Group's largest customer and the Group's five
largest customers respectively.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for
its customers. Trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets are grouped into
three internal credit rating buckets (namely: low
risk, medium risk and high risk) based on shared
credit risk characteristics by references to past
default experience and current past due exposure
of the debtors, and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets which are assessed
individually as at 31 March 2021.

21

BEREBEEREMTAN
NFE (&)

(a)

FEERRE (&)

JEWE ZRE - JEWIR B %
EWREEHER S K EE
(#&)

REIMEHR - AEEHROHE
PEEAEESTRAR - R
FENEEFTR - RIFERG
BEREAREEDEY KEH
R EEERBAEEEST
HEERBIETEKN - R=F
——4®=A=+—8  Ek=E
SRR - EUIRE S - ERHE
EHIBERENEERET DR
2% (ZZF=_FTF :38%) &
65% (ZZT —_F4F :65%) /3
FEUIAS 8 [ e K %5 P S0I8 K FE
WAREBERAREFKIE o

EAAEEEERBRERN—
Hn o AEEBHERFRAA
EMEERIR - FEINE SRR
EUWREBERENEETIZE
B ARBEENIFR R E A
A 260 A 2B DA K2 (7S A B E Al
B 75 AR 0 2 AT B9 3 = R B A
o A= EABEEFRAE
A (BME R ~ & R & = &
%) o NRIBRABAEEGE
BRI R ERE SR - B
WIRE & kA& HBEENTBHR
BREEEEHER - TR
—E-—F=RA=1+—H#TT
S RVAS )
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 21 BIERREEREMIAN
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NEE(8)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (@) =ERREE)

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease JEWE ZEH - [EIRE %

receivables and contract assets (continued) EWHEFEREHEE
(#)

Gross Impairment
Average loss carrying loss
rate amount allowance
FigBAE REAE RESERE
% $'000 $'000

% Tt Tt

Internal credit rating 1= EFR

Low risk (WENE 0.15 145,217 218
Medium risk o & 0.77 121,108 932
266,325 1,150

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets and study of
other corporates’ default and recovery data, and
are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
Such forward-looking information is used by
management of the Group to assess the current
condition and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
Management considered that the allowance of
ECLs is insignificant as at 31 March 2020.

Movements in the loss allowance account in
respect of trade receivables, retentions receivable

ERHRARIRBEENE 50
R RRREBERENEER
SHEHANBERRENER
i H A (D3R 4 N B BUR R
Bistmfhat - W BAN LB
2PN E5 1) B EAS RO AU HE
HERHEL AR - AEEER
EERZ SRR IEEREHAR
R AN G B R OR TR AT
HAREERROEE - A%
BB 2 EE MEM O EION -
NEREEBRBANEBE
HEEH -N_FT_TF=H
=+—H ERERR/EDE
EEENBREBELTEK -

REBE_T_—F=FA= -1——
BLEFER @ BKE SRR

and contract assets during the year ended 31 ﬁqif%;”A&AQ\ﬁﬁFEﬁ/)ﬁfﬁ
March 2021 are as follows: EEEE2EFHNT
$000
Fr
Balance as at 1 April 2019, 31 March R—Z—AFEMA—H —T-F
2020 and 1 April 2020 F=A=+—HER=-Z=_ZTFN
R—RZ#&% =
Impairment loss recognised BRI EESE 1,150

Balance as at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—Bz2&&% 1,150
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 21 BiRKREERESHBTIAN
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NF{E (8E)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBELRAR

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed
funding lines from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

REEETHERHE AR
HEAGMRSEERAR &
RESEFEHRHNAESSE
K o ANERE 2 R ETE T
B REHRBHESTE - A
REBFERZHBZIER - A
TERER R MR SRR A
TR WBENITTRAERE
BE - HmeRRREZ

TRAMASESRAERR
EHRRNBTEOZEME - 7Y
EREHNARFTRRAGR (B
EREHMNRFHEOF SN
o MMARES o RIERRE
RE BRI R ) RAKE A%
EREENKFAY:

At 31 March 2021

RZB--5=A=1-H
Total More than
contractual More than 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted  Within 1 year 1 year but less less than
amount  cashflow orondemand than 2 years 5 years
R -frg EBE-F RENML
BEE AFRRER REX  EORmE  EOREE
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 §'000
T T T T T
Trade and other payables BAREENE 51,787 51,787 51,787 = -
Lease liabiltes BEaR 15,145 16,164 5,366 5,366 5,432
Loan from a shareholder REER 13,000 13,000 13,000 - -
79932 80,951 70,153 5,366 5432
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 21 BBEREEREMIAN
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL A (8)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REESER (E)
At 31 March 2020
RZZ-2F=A=+-H
Total More than
contractual More than 2 years but
Camying  undiscounted ~ Within 1 year 1 year but less less than
amount cashflow orondemand  than 2 years 5 years
e e BB MELE
BHE AMRRLR REX  EIREE  BIRDE
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000

T T T T T

Trade and other payables 25 RAMEMNFIR 92,408 92,408 92,408 - -
Lease liabilties HEaE 19,760 21,530 5,366 5,366 10,798
Bank loan - secured BTET- KA 10,000 10297 10297 - -
Loan from a shareholder & 13,000 13,000 13,000 - -
135,168 137,235 121,01 5,366 10,798
(c) Interest rate risk (0 R=mEE
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through REEH SRITERREE
the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing B B HY I 2B B i A R
bank borrowing and lease liabilities. The risk is - EREZREEEEER
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation in interest REE) o KBFEIEHFXRE
rates arising from the lease liabilities. The Group's EZ5IT -

interest rate profile as monitored by management
is set out below.

2021 2020
—E--& Sk 2
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRA= ERF=
% $'000 % $'000
i T
Fixed rate borrowing: ~ BEEREZER
Bank loan - secured RITER-EA 430 - 430 10,000
Variable rate borrowing: FEHEREH
Lease labilities HEsfk 4.5 15,145 4.25 19,760
Total borrowings B3 15,145 29,760
Fixed rate borrowing HE 8 EEH
as a percentage of LELECA

total borrowings 0% 34%
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(0

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2021, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased the
Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately $126,000 (2020: $165,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
annualised impact on the Group’'s interest
expense that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to
floating rate instruments which expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk at that date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2020.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s functional currency is Hong Kong
dollars. At 31 March 2021, the Group's currency
risk is primarily attributable to deposits with
banks of $25,175,000 (2020: $22,789,000)
denominated in the Renminbi (“RMB").
Assuming that the RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% at 31 March 2021 and the
changes had been applied to the Group's
exposure to currency risk for those deposits at
that date, with other variables held constant, the
Group's profit after tax and total equity would
have increased/decreased by approximately
$1,051,000 (2020: $951,000).

The exposure to currency risk as referred to
above represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in exchange rate over
the period until next annual reporting date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2020.

Fair values measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

21

BEREBEEREMTAN
NFE (&)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Fl =3k (48)

BREM DT
R-EBE-_—F=A=+—8
et F R ZEBEIE 0,5 4100
EIE 2L - M Fr A Eth & S i
BAE AAEE KT
i Hl R AR BB s F 5w 45
HN%3126,0007T (ZZE=F4F :
165,0007T) °

RS TR AR E
HBHE B RES Y FLE
2 - Y BRFERHE N
S HIREA S ER R A R EH
YRR TARAEL RS
THIERR - BEIESHTE=
ToTEYREERE -

S EE /2 e

AEBRINEEEEAET - K
T —F=fA=+—H &
SEMEERREZEFRERA
ARE ([TARE]D 5IERER
1T1F 525,175,000 (ZF =
T4 :22,789,0007T) ° R R
RZZF=Z—F=H=+—H
ARBHEB2E%HZE
BEONZAERRAEE
ZEGFHRATEENEERE
mE A& ERIFTE - AIARE
& ) BR 1 12 0 1) R 4 2 42 5B
#5386 00,k > 491,051,0007T
(ZZE=Z4F :951,0007T) °

P R R IR
HEEET—EEEHRER
BRI AR A R
B UANERE_TTF

NZEZ—FRITTEF=
A=+—8 ' x&E&REKAE
BEAGHERNSRIEERE
ERNREEREE SN AT EE
BBARRRA e
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22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 22 HAEE

At 31 March 2021, the Group had contingent liabilities R—ZE-_—F=A=+—H &
in respect of performance bonds to guarantee for SERERREGBRERRARE
the due and proper performance of the obligations EMBARBITEAEEE Z2EE
undertaken by the Group’s subsidiary for projects MELERNBENRBE ZHXAE
amounting to $83,844,000 (2020: $87,587,000) in its 15 7383,844,0007T (ZE = Z 4 :
ordinary course of business. The performance bonds are 87,587,0007T) ° fE&I{R & T8 B AR
expected to be released in accordance with the terms BEBESHDBIRTERR

of the respective construction contracts.

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 23 EXREEAIRS
TRANSACTIONS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances (@) BRIBHEREMIDFIHEER
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, R G REEHIN - REBRARF
the Group enters into the following material EEIMATER@E RS

related party transaction during the year:

2021 2020
—E--F —T_FF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Rental expenses paid to a related BT —HBEB AR 2
company HeMx 1,192 1,192
Note: The directors of the Company are of opinion that the MizE : ARBEFRR LR ZTIN
above transaction is entered into in the normal course of AEEBBIEPEIL -
business.

(b)  Remuneration of key management personnel, by FTEEBAEHHHN (B2
including amounts paid to the directors as BEfNEEHESEE) R s
disclosed in note 8 and senior management as % MeMEIEERZME R
disclosed in note 9, is as follows: MsEoResaan T :

2021 2020

—EBE--F —T_TF

$'000 $'000

T Tt

Short-term employee benefits EAEERT 5,677 6,129
Post-employment benefits BB 42 ) 44 74

5,721 6,203
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23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(0)

(continued)

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs”
(see note 6(b)).

The related party transactions in respect of rental
expenses paid to a related company and the
remuneration of directors and chief executive of
the Company constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the
remuneration of key management personnel
(other than directors and chief executive) of the
Company do not fall under the definition of
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the
amounts due from shareholders and loan from
a shareholder as set out in notes 13 and 19
respectively constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

23 EREEBLERS (8)

(b)

(0)

(%)

HFMEETATE TRAI(R
FizE6(b)) °

HE T —REEBARNAS
AERARAEEREEZTR
AEEHMERIMEEN SR 5E
R EMARREVLAZERERH
ERH o AT - ZERFHEER
%BF EMRBNEIAAZE T
R - A5 RIBIRERAER
fE °

HARNRTIEZEEABR(EF
REZITHRA BRI FEE
RARRERE T R B NN £
RAFVIAZERENHER S
HFFEMER S o

E8 75 Bl 7 BT 5E13 52197 i, &
WERFBREBRREERE R
HIREEE 5 2 5 K T A8 Al
FUAZRTENBAERS - A
M ZEXSERREST FH
HAF4AZTETHR - A%
B RRERALEIRE ©
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i Represents $8

24 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 24 REEBE BB RT
FINANCIAL POSITION
2021 2020
—E--F C—T_FTF
Note $000 $'000
B 5 Tt Tt
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RTB AR ZRE 12 = =
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FELU I /B A B E 18 135,626 130,180
135,626 130,180
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and TETFRIE K&
other receivables H b U 5RIR 10 10
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTEH 1,085 574
1,095 584
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H th JE A~ FRIE K
EETER 455 445
Tax payable FEIBEIE 1 93
. - S 538 .
Net current assets REBEEFE 639 46
NET ASSETS EEFRE 136,265 130,226
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE 20(a)
Share capital A% 2R 20(c) 8,300 8,300
Reserves it 127,965 121,926
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 136,265 130,226

* 58T
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25 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and
a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2021
and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

25

RBE-_ZE-_—F=8
=t+—HIEFECEMEN
REMBIEET ~ FETERIR
RENTREEE

BEEAUBHRRTIERS TS
A AEERM— RN K —EH
R FEMBREERF175 -
REEH RBE_T_—F=H
=t—BLEFERRERBELER
HEMBERRDER - ZFERE
TR AL AR EAERAE o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

RUT AR ZE

MRS IR ER

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020

BBV BRELERE1RAER] - 20198 AR ERAIIHEHE L ER —E-ZTFRNA—H

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021

beyond 30 June 2021

BEMBWEERE16RMNER  —FE=Z—FA=THE

#9201 97 i 5 22 o £ 16 6 1 <% 18R —E-—FMA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

BE S EEREIRNAEET] - EAL B IES —E—_—#—HF—H

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds

before Intended Use
BB ERE 165 ASE]
Y E - BE R E - BT HEFLZ ATR500E

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BRGTEAFIRNER]  FEEAN - BT —WEXNIEE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

BEREVBRESLEN _ZE-NFE_T_TFRBPZFEUE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

1 January 2022

—E-—#—HF—H

1 January 2022
—E--F—H—H

1 January 2022
—E-—F—Hf—H

S B EEHEELERRIIREN
HRENERZE  BEREEE
RN ERTAR] BEH AR A R 53R
REREATE -
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A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the AEBESAAANBREENEEREENR
Group for the last five financial years is as follows: aEMENT :

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+-HILEE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
T+t —T-N\F ZZT-NF —T-TF ZB--F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FIr Fr Tr Fr Fr
RESULTS £
Revenue & 370,235 287,846 305,128 393,892 378,783
Profit before taxation B 4 A S 127,797 27,566 12,420 4,337 33,716
Income tax {3t (21,100) (4,548) (1,851) (580) (5,013)
Profit and total comprehensive £ A% 5| % 2 &
income for the year W 4a%s 106,697 23,018 10,569 3,757 28,703
At 31 March
R=B=+-8
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
T+ —T-\F —ZT-NF —T-_TF ZB--F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T ¥ ¥ T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥EREE
Total assets BEE 410,794 319,746 344,174 389,879 362,516
Total liabilities BaRE (84,050) (77,884) (99,262)  (141,210) (85,144)
Net assets BEFE 326,744 241,862 244,912 248,669 277,372

This report is published in both English and Chinese  ZRI¥R&ELAF R REES R - FEREX
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between the  EB2AFIER E R FEME « AR A% -
Chinese and English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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